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Australian Primary Health Care Nurses Association 
(APNA) is the peak professional body for nurses working 
in primary health care. Our vision is a healthy Australia 
through best practice primary health care nursing.
Nurses in primary health care contribute to a healthy Australia 
through innovative, informed and dynamic care. APNA champions 
the role of primary health care nurses; to advance professional 
recognition, ensure workforce sustainability, nurture leadership in 
health, and optimise the role of nurses in patient-centred care.

APNA is bold, vibrant and future-focused. We reflect the views of 
our membership and the broader profession by bringing together 
nurses from across Australia to represent, advocate, promote and 
celebrate the achievements of nurses in primary health care.

APNA’s goals are to:
1. Be recognised as the lead organisation advancing education and 

career development for primary health care nurses in Australia.

2. Provide primary health care nurses with a voice and advocate 
on their behalf on relevant national healthcare policy.

3. Continue to be a robust and sustainable organisation, delivering 
great member value.

4. Identify key emerging issues and trends in primary health care, 
and be a lead influencer and innovator.
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APNA 
NATIONAL 

CONFERENCE 2017
590+ DELEGATES

40 SESSIONS
120 SPEAKERS
55 EXHIBITORS

1,111
workshops attendees across 

27 workshops
online education

courses

180
hours of online 

learning

200+

APNA launches 
new professional 
indemnity insurance.
Creates value at 
$110 for 12 months

MyNursingFuture.com.au 
launched

MEMBERSHIP 
GROWS 
BY 14%

2017 HIGHLIGHTS
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ESTABLISHED

11
ENHANCED NURSE 

CLINICS DELIVERING 
NURSE-LED CARE

35
APNA Nurse Networksrespondents to APNA 

Workforce Survey

1,073

Supported 27 
nurses transitioning 
into primary health 
care in the APNA 
Transition to Practice 
Pilot Program

APNA 
ADOPTS NEW 

CONSTITUTION

8,954
new online learning 

users
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P R E S I D E N T ’ S  R E P O R T

We have witnessed another year of robust growth 
at APNA in 2017, with phenomenal membership 
growth and reach into the primary health 
care sector. APNA continues to be in a strong 
fi nancial position with signifi cant organisational 
achievements and a growing public profi le. 

APNA is a vibrant organisation, ambitious in its eff orts 
to champion the role of primary health care nurses 
as innovative leaders and managers of change. Nurses 
are key to the success of any healthcare program—
using on-the-ground knowledge of their community 
and skills set of their teams—they drive strategy and 
change. This is well acknowledged in the new Health 
Care Homes pilots and education programs being 
rolled out over the year. 

The 2017 APNA National Conference State of the Art 
was our best conference ever and provided the perfect 
opportunity to showcase the work of APNA. With the city 
of Hobart as a beautiful backdrop and an outstanding 
line-up of speakers, we welcomed over 600 delegates. 
The theme ‘state of the art’ rolled out to our social 
event at MONA – Museum of Old and New Art which 
was a true highlight. 

At the conference we talked about primary health 
care nurses as truly state of the art “must-have” team 
members. APNA is pleased to be part of the National 
Nursing and Midwifery Education Advisory Committee 
promoting well supported, confi dent primary health 
care nurses as crucial to the successful implementation 
of the National Primary Health Care Strategic 
Framework. Our 2018 conference will focus on 
you as the Nurseforce for the Future.

APNA Board
The APNA Board continues to work hard to provide 
strong leadership that is forward-focused and strategic 
as well as managing risk in a complex business and 
policy environment. Most Board members hold formal 
Australian Institute of Company Directors governance 
qualifi cations. Our three invited Board members bring 
high-level business management, marketing, innovation 
and policy skills to APNA. These skills combined with the 
expert nursing knowledge of the elected nurse Board 
members helps APNA to set to the direction for 
organisational development.

New additions
To better support our members and improve our 
member services, APNA has introduced a new 
integrated website and customer relations management 
(CRM) system to improve our members’ experience. 

APNA knows the challenges primary health care 
nurses face and the need for accessible professional 
indemnity protection. APNA recognises our members 
want to protect their livelihoods with a policy in their 
own name that meets their needs as a primary health 
care nurse. As part of our push for improved member 
benefi ts, APNA has worked tirelessly with Insurance 
House to provide a quality, aff ordable professional 
indemnity product for our members. 

During 2017 the APNA team, led by CEO David Malone, 
has worked dynamically to meet the goals of our 
strategic plan including meetings with the Health 
Minister the Hon Greg Hunt MP and his chief advisors. 
This valuable opportunity allowed us to provide key 
government offi  cials with more personalised 
information about the diversity of the roles of nurses 
in primary health care and the work of APNA. 
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Policy and advocacy
Demand for APNA representation on high level health 
committees and advisory groups has further increased 
in 2017. APNA has positioned itself as the go-to 
organisation to represent primary health care nursing 
in policy work, strategy and program development. 
This is a direct refl ection and recognition of the infl uence 
of APNA as the peak body, and the infl uence of primary 
health care nurses, especially in change management 
and healthcare reform. 

In 2016 I had the honour of being the sole nurse to be 
invited to represent primary health care nurses on the 
General Practice and Primary Care Clinical Committee, 
as part of the Medicare Benefi ts Schedule Review 
Taskforce. This representation continues in 2017-18. 

Former APNA president Julianne Badenoch continues 
as the APNA director on the board of the National 
Asthma Council, and the clinical reference lead for the 
Australian Digital Health Agency. APNA also has high 
level representation in many Department of Health 
committees, clinical standards committees at the 
Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health 
Care as well as the Department of Veterans’ Aff airs 
Coordinated Veterans’ Care Program. A more detailed 
list of APNA representation is listed later in this annual 
report and I encourage all nurses to put up their hands 
when these opportunities present themselves. It’s 
important that we contribute.

APNA’s policy and advocacy role continues to develop 
with the skills of our dedicated policy offi  cer and 
members, APNA has made a number of submissions 
to key national health policy requests. One important 
issue that is being considered is the expansion of nurse 
prescribing. Full details of APNA policy submissions and 
position statements can be found on the APNA website.

APNA projects
In 2017 APNA’s Nursing in Primary Health Care Program 
has been in full swing. APNA launched the Career and 
Education Framework for Nurses in Primary Health Care, 
a resource to support the recruitment and retention of 
nurses in primary health care. A vast amount of data 
was collected, collated and analysed by APNA project 
team, with over 1000 nurses and health professionals 
engaged in the project. The result was My Nursing 
Future, a dynamic interactive website that explores 
the diff erent levels of progression within primary 
health care nursing.

Supporting nurses new to primary health care is critical 
and in 2016 and 2017 tranches of the Transition to 
Practice Pilot Program (TPPP) were inundated with 
applications from nurses, peer preceptors and mentors 
looking for support with this initiative. Tranche 1 of TPPP 
was successfully completed from January to April 2017. 
Tranche 2 commenced in April 2017 after receiving 
219 applications. TPPP has seen a lot of interest from 
employers and workforce planners as a way to support 
nurses transitioning to primary health care. The results 
from the pilot will be published later in 2018.

The Enhanced Nurse Clinics project supported the 
establishment of 11 nurse clinic models, located 
in metropolitan, regional and rural primary health 
care settings across Australia. The APNA team created 
content which took into account all elements that 
support and challenge the establishment of nurse 
clinics. The content was organised into a series of 
eight building blocks, each containing key components 
for establishing a nurse clinic. These resources are 
now online and available to support nurses and their 
employers to set up an enhanced nurse clinic of 
their own.
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The Foundations of General Practice Nursing workshops 
were rolled out nationally in both city and country 
areas and fully subscribed in most locations. The APNA 
Board congratulates the APNA team and presenters that 
have delivered these important projects that provide 
education and support to nurses in primary health care.

APNA continues to see an expansion of our education 
portfolio online with CPD, and short course off erings as 
well as face-to-face learning opportunities. APNA Online 
Learning boasts 180 education courses, the highest 
number of courses off ered to date, which totals over 
200 hours of high quality learning. APNA conducted 
over 40 workshops around the country.

Nursing Networks continue to fl ourish. Some networks 
have continued either as standalone groups 
coordinated by passionate APNA member coordinators 
while others are supported by Primary Health Networks. 
APNA’s Nurse Networks provide an opportunity for 
primary health care nurses to meet other nurses, 
share ideas and help support a vibrant local nursing 
workforce. Thank you to all those wonderful nurse 
network coordinators and Primary Health Network 
support offi  cers for your enthusiasm and dedication 
that supports the nurse peer networks.

APNA National 
Conference 2017
As mentioned previously, one of the highlights of 
the 2017 year was APNA’s State of the Art national 
conference. The conference achieved our highest 
ever delegate satisfaction rating, refl ecting the quality 
of the program that include the issues and topics 
that nurses want to hear about.

Congratulations to our winners of the APNA Recently 
Graduated Nurse of the Year, Maria Young from 
Mungindi, and APNA Nurse of the Year, Holly Robinson 
from The Oaks. Thank you to all those nurses who 
submitted their nominations and their stories for
 the awards. It helps us, as your organisation, see 
the breadth of creativity and dedication of nurses in 
primary health care and retell those stories.

The highest APNA accolade is the President’s Award. 
Congratulations to the 2017 APNA President’s Award 
winner, Samantha Moses. Samantha was the driving 
force that led to the foundation of APNA and this award 
is a small recognition of that great eff ort. The Rosemary 
Bryant Award is presented in recognition of a 
substantial long-term contribution to primary health 
care nursing. The 2017 Rosemary Bryant Award was 
presented to long time APNA member, former Board 
member and APNA Nurse Network leader, Jane Butcher. 
Jane succumbed to breast cancer shortly after the 
conference. Jane was a highly regarded and inspiring 
primary health care nurse leader, trusted colleague 
and friend to many. Jane is greatly missed and it was 
a privilege to honour her contribution to the profession. 
The stories of all our award winners can be found on 
the APNA website.

Nurses are key to 
the success of any 
healthcare program
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Karen Booth
APNA President

Thank you
On behalf of the Board, I wish to convey our thanks 
and congratulations to the entire APNA team for 
their enormous eff orts. They provide the skills, the 
adaptability, fl exibility, the professionalism and the 
endeavour that has helped make 2017 a sensational 
year on all levels for our organisation and primary 
health care nursing. The Board thanks the APNA 
CEO, David Malone, who has demonstrated strong 
leadership and the business acumen that has made 
2017 such a success. 

Both personally, and as APNA president and chair of 
the Board, I want to pass on my thanks to my fellow 
Board members. They give their time, expertise and 
commitment to support, guide, strategise and 
encourage innovation and set the direction that drives 
our association upwards as a contemporary and 
future-focused organisation.

The Board extends a special thank you to all of our 
member volunteers who give their time selfl essly in 
support of primary health care nurses and APNA’s vision 
of a healthy Australia through best practice primary 
health care nursing. We thank you for your contribution 
to advisory groups and committees, forums, nursing 
networks, and many other activities that help make 
APNA a vibrant organisation. All of these activities help 
make APNA shine as the go-to organisation that 
represents not only our members but is acknowledged 
by our external stakeholders as the voice that represent 
primary health nursing.

I commend APNA’s 2017 Annual Report to our members.
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C E O ’ S  R E P O R T

The year 2017 marked another year of 
signifi cant progress towards APNA’s strategic 
objectives, as well as the progressive maturing 
of the organisation into a leading and 
infl uential national professional body within 
the health sector. The previous year was 
particularly notable for progress in the areas 
of membership, governance, fi nance, and 
professional leadership through project activity.

Membership
Membership increased nearly 14% over 2017, with 
total APNA membership now at an all-time high. 
This strong momentum in membership growth has 
continued into early 2018 and is critical to APNA’s 
future prosperity. A stronger membership base 
delivers more fi nancial self-suffi  ciency (less reliance 
on external grants), more scope to expand member 
services, and more political infl uence. 

Delivering outstanding value to APNA members 
and recruiting new members, continued to be the 
primary focus over the previous year. Well-established 
member services, such as the APNA National 
Conference and the Foundations of General Practice 
Nursing workshop series, were once again extremely 
successful in 2017. 

The APNA national conference State of the Art in Hobart 
attracted a record number of delegates, sponsors and 
exhibitors. Post-conference evaluations indicated over 
94% of conference delegates were either satisfi ed or 
very satisfi ed with the program and overall experience. 

In 2017 APNA conducted 37 face-to-face workshops 
across Australia, with many of these being held in 
regional centers such as Tamworth in New South 
Wales and Albany in Western Australia for the fi rst 
time. It has been particularly rewarding to see such 
well attended workshops in regional areas.

Governance
A new contemporary Constitution was adopted at 
the 2017 Annual General Meeting. 

The new Constitution positions the organisation at 
the leading edge of good corporate governance 
frameworks and provides a sound base for future 
growth and expansion. The Constitution also facilitated 
APNA changing from an association incorporated in 
Victoria to a national company. In a remarkably strong 
endorsement, the new constitution and change in 
corporate structure were adopted unanimously by 
the membership.

An external review of the APNA Board was conducted 
towards the end of 2017 by leading governance 
consultancy InSync Pty. Ltd. The willingness of the 
Board to commission this evaluation and review 
(often a challenging step for a Board) is a strong 
demonstration of the commitment of APNA’s Board 
of directors to good corporate governance and the 
eff ective leadership of President Karen Booth. The 
review produced a number of recommendations 
to improve the capability of the Board, all of which 
have since been formally accepted and adopted 
by all directors. 

Finances
While it is not the intent of APNA to manage its fi nances 
and assets for the sake of generating profi t, it is 
important for the organisation to generate suffi  cient 
retained earnings to provide a buff er against fi nancial 
headwinds or unexpected shocks.

Over the 2017 year APNA delivered an operating profi t 
of $73,806. Together with the strong fi nancial result 
achieved in 2016, this fi nancial result has seen APNA’s 
equity increase by nearly 73% over the past two years. 
This increase in fi nancial strength means APNA is now 
much better positioned to invest in new member 
services and manage cycles of external grant funding.
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David Malone
APNA Chief Executive Officer

Professional leadership
One of APNA’s key strategic objectives is to provide 
leadership in the development and advancement 
of primary health care nursing. 

The Nursing in Primary Health Care (NiPHC) 
Program, funded by the Australian Government, 
has been successful in increasing the capacity 
and profi le of nurses within primary health care. 
The NiPHC Program has delivered innovative 
nurse-delivered models of care and promoted 
the recruitment and retention of nurses into 
the primary health care workforce. Key program 
achievements include:

 • 92% retention rate of nurses remaining in the 
primary health care workforce, post participation 
in the Transition to Practice Pilot Program 

 • Replicable nurse-delivered models of care in 
diabetes, dementia, mental health and hepatitis 

 • Over 650 nurses participating in targeted 
education to advance their clinical skills and 
improve patient outcomes

In closing, I would like to thank the wonderful team 
of APNA staff  who worked hard over 2017 to deliver 
benefi ts for our members. It was a privilege to lead 
the organisation over the past couple of years and 
I am very proud of what we have together achieved 
as a team. 

Membership increased 
nearly 14% over 2017, 
with total APNA 
membership now at 
an all-time high. This 
strong momentum in 
membership growth 
has continued into 
early 2018 and is 
critical to APNA’s 
future prosperity.
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APNA 
MEMBERS

O U R  M E M B E R S H I P

APNA membership continues to grow with nurses working across all sectors of primary 
health care. In 2017, APNA’s membership grew by 14%—one of the largest annual growth 
rates we’ve experienced.

21% 
QLD

23% 
VIC

3% 
TAS

1% 
NT

8% 
SA

9% 
WA

2% 
ACT

WHERE OUR
MEMBERS

LIVE

33% 
NSW

25% 

3% 
3% 

3% 

26% 

THEIR
CAREER
STAGE 40% 

are experienced 
nurses new 
to primary 
health care

are experienced 
nurses skilled in 
primary health care

are recently 
graduated nurses 
working or looking 
to work in primary 
health care

are nursing 
students

employ or 
manage a team 
of nurses

work in health but 
aren’t a nurse

On refl ection of my career trajectory as an advanced primary health care nurse and researcher, 
APNA membership provides access to Department of Health and Ageing scholarships, relevant 
evidence based information, skills and tools from education programs, online learning and a 
high quality national conference and workshops with great networking opportunities. Perhaps 
more importantly, at a critical time of rapid health care policy change, APNA’s representation 
as a key stakeholder on Australian government planning committees, has provided advocacy 
to promote and advance the career and leadership opportunities of all primary health care 
nurses in Australia.

Dell Lovett



The isolated world of general practice seems so much more connected as an APNA member. 
Since joining in 2009 I have always felt that APNA had my back. From supporting me through 
the hardest days to giving me a voice in primary health care, providing education on all 
things general practice along with representation at local, state and federal levels, APNA have 
been by my side. The opportunities provided by APNA have been endless. Indeed, APNA have 
mentored and encouraged my development from a novice general practice nurse through 
to my current role as a clinical nurse consultant and educator leading a nurse clinic! Without 
APNA, general practice nursing would still be seen as a handmaiden role rather than the 
specialised area of nursing practice it is recognised for today.

Ros Rolleston
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1% 

1% 

Other
Aged Care

University/TAFE/
Education Provider

Private/For Profit 
Organisation

Correctional
Facility

No Current
Employer

Non-clinical
Setting

3% 
Aboriginal Community 
Controlled Health 
Service/Aboriginal 
Medical Service

THEIR
WORK

SETTING

67% 
General Practice

Community 
Health

Primary 
Health 
Network

General
practice nurse

5% 
Accredited Nurse 
Immuniser

3% 
Community 
Health Nurse 

3% 
Manager/Team 
Leader 

3% 
Nurse Manager

2% 
Women’s Health 
Nurse

2% 
Diabetes 
Educator 

2% 
Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander Health 
Nurse

2% 
Other

THEIR
POSITION

78% 



O U R  M E M B E R S H I P

APNA would like to recognise all of its members in 2017, and in particular our founding, platinum and gold 
members for their continued support. Founding members have been with APNA since 2001, Platinum members 
have been with APNA for more than 10 years, and Gold members have been with APNA for seven to 10 years. 
APNA and the profession is stronger with their continued support. 

Founding Members
Christine Ash
Joanne Humphreys

Marion Jenkins
Samantha Moses

Lynne Walker
Kate Douglas 

Mandy Green

Platinum Members
Dallas Allin
Leonie Amerena
Helga Anderson
Sandy Anderson
Valencia Anderson
Margaret Arvier
Christine Ash
Julianne Badenoch
Wanda Banning
Tonia Bariesheff 
Robyn Barton
Anna Billingham
Jayne Birkett
Linda Blazseka
Karen Booth
Stella Bowman
Lea Boyd
Christina Brady
Sharon Brain
Maureen Brittain
Rhoda Brooks
Diane Bundellu
Joanne Burchett
Noreen Burke-Martin
Tara Cahill
Yvonne Calvert
Judith Cameron
Sharon Campbell
Sue Campbell
Rosalind Camplin
Gabrielle Carpenter
Christine Carr
Cathy Carrasco
Nancy Carroll
Janis Case
Annette Casey
Erin Chalmers
Lisa Chambers
Cathy Chatburn
Margaret Chesterman
Samantha Chiu
Margaret Chown
Robyn Clark

Maureen Clarke
Patricia Colbran
Linda Coleman
Jude Collier
Merrilyn Collins
Yvonne Collins
Lisa Collison
Patricia Connolly
Janet Conos
Rosalie Cooke
Sally Cotterell
Tania Coubrough
Irwin Cozens
Christine Crawford
Tanya Cross
Linda Dalla Torre
Maxyne Dalton
Linden Daly
Pam D’Amico
Gwen Daniel
Karen Dargusch
Elaine Davis
Margaret Dempsey
Natalie Dennis
Julie Dickfos
Gillian Dollin
Leilani Donovan
Margaret Doody
Fiona Down
Robyn Eden
Leanne Edwards
Maggie Eggleston
Alison Fawcett
Leanne Ferguson
Paula Field
Janet Fitzpatrick
Bernadette Flanagan
Adeola Fowosere
Liz Free
Yvonne Gadsden
Janet Geyle
Christine Godwin
Kathy Godwin

Judith Gorst
Elaine Greenwood
Rose Griffi  ths
Catherine Guy
Elizabeth Hallahan
Debra Hankin
Anne Harvey
Jannine Harvey
Catherine Hastings
Merrilyn Hathaway
Julie Healy
Helen Heath
Ruth Heaver
Barbara Hedges
Gina Highet
Petra Hindley
Kathryn Hindmarsh
Cassandra Hooper
Karen Huckel
Joanne Humphreys
Lesley Hutchinson
Kristine Ingle
Rani Iyahvu
Elizabeth Jemmett
Betty Jenkins
Marion Jenkins
Erin Johns
Mary Johns
Mary Kelly
Toni Kelly
Sophie Kerr
Mary Khoo
Christine Kiley
Deborah Kimber
Monique King
Heather Kinnersly
Edwina Kramer
Genevieve Laing
Karen Lawrie
Dianne Leader
Louise Lee
Susanne Leister
Lavina L’Hotellier

Judy Lobsey
Glenyss Locke
Maureen Lockwood
Del Lovett
Robyn Lowth
Carol Lubach
Alison Ludwig
Mary Madden
Helen Mann
Linley Marshall
Tracey Marshall
Robina Martin
Lindley Mattiazzi
Anne Matyear
Bernadette Maynard
Janette McAllister
Jennifer McAllister
Sherryl McCullough
Donna McGreal
Jennifer McKenna
Gloria McKenzie
Mary-Anne McMichael
Jill McPhie
Elizabeth Meadley
Fiona Mercer
Sulochana Middleton
Bernadette Miller
Helen Minards
Anthea Mitchell
Judith Mitchell
Rita Mlinaric
Kathryn Mobbs
Jeanne Moody
Samantha Moses
Dianne Mouncey
Denise Mugavin
Rowena Mulligan
Louise Munro
Yvette Murcott
Fiona Murrie
Susan Nunn
Fiona O’Connor
Wendy O’Connor

Helen O’Loughlin
Roslyn O’Reilly
Ruth Parker
Julie Parlas
Kim Patterson
Heather Phillipson
Gina Pickard
Christina Polkinghorne
Amanda Porritt
Mary Pountney
Michelle Powell
Sandra Powell
Helen Prince
Diane Psaila
Tammie Pullman
Lynette Reeves
Julie Richardson
Ann Ripper
Leesa Rippingale
Sonya Roberts
Lorraine Robertson
Lynne Robertson
Wendy Rombouts
Susarah Roux
Neree Rowlands
Melita Royal
Kathryn Russo
Sandra Salagaras
Diane Saunders
Jo-Ann Shearer
Anna Shepherd
Karen Shields
Inez Shippey
Lynda Shrimpton
Judith Shugg
Frances Simon
Erica Slakhorst
Julie Smith
Janette Sodeman
Janet Stevenson
Nicky Stewart
Ana Stoll
Leonne Strumpher

Fran Stuart
Marcia Stuart
Julie Sullivan
Jennifer Swan
Helen Tarry
Lisa Taylor
Sandra Taylor
Shirley Teshome
Wendy Thomas
Christine Thompson
Lyn Thompson
Kerry Thorpe
Leslie Tobin
Sandra Tonello
Sandra Turvey
Christine Tyrrell
Julie Upton
Janina Vikis
Robyn Von Stieglitz
Anne Vorobieff 
Lynne Walker
Alison Watson
Jenny Webb
Catherine Weiske
Janet West
Christine Whittington
Lyn Wilkie
Fiona Williams
Sue Willis
Judy Wilson
Margaret Wilson
Caroline Windle
Julie Windon
Margaret Windsor
Diana Wong
Julie Woning
Priscilla Worthley
Erin Wright
Linda Zanette
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Gold Members
Christine Abbott
Julie Ackroyd
Rebecca Adams
Jennifer Alcott
Julie Alexander
Barbara Anderson
Mary Anderson
Ruth Anderson
Silvana Antonucci
Rachael Arnott
Andrea Lee Ashlin
Ida Aunins
Kristine Avenia
Jodie Bailey
Karen Bailey
Kathleen Baker
Patricia Balchin
Kathryn Banicek
Grace Barbuto
Karen Batcheldor
Kerry Bath
Sarah Bayes
Linda Bayliss
Ruth Bennet
Sharon Benson
Sandra May Bentley
Kathryn Berthelsen
Marcelle Bibby
Yolanda Binks
Gladys May Black
Suzanne Blackeby
Bindy Blamey
Rosemary Blanch
Annemarie Blom
Cathy Boatman
Helen Boland
Jane Bollen

Angela Bond
Gillian Bonser
Karen Boswell
Yvonne Bovenizer
Diane Bowden
Meegan Bradbury
Peter Bradshaw
Denise Brandis
Barbara Brierley
Marguerite Broad
Brenda Broadhurst
Cath Brooke
Melissa Brosnan
Bernadette Bruning
Lynda Bryant
Anne Buchanan
Helen Burman
Josephine Burns
Julie-Anne Burrow
Debra Butcher
Robyn Butler
Tonia Buzzolini
Carol Byrne
Anne Camden
Kerry Campbell
Lynette Campbell
Meghan Kate 
Campbell
Sandra Cane
Suzanne Carlisle
Marilyn Carter
Petrina Carter
Karen Casey
Ann-Maree Caughey
Clare Chamberlain
Shun Lin Chan
Colette Chapman

Carolyn Chaston
Li Li Chen
Alice Chirawu
Pauline Anne Church
Giuseppina 
Cichello-Sanderson
Denise Clark
Rosemary Clarke
Debbie Clatworthy
Kathryn Michaela 
Cleeve
Melanie Cliff ord
Alison Clisdell
Sharon Clough
Donna Clucas
Bronislawa Barbara 
Cockram
Carmel Cocks
Anthony Colagrossi
Donna Colby
Isabel Ruth Cole
Helen Colgan
Cynthia Collyer
Gabrielle Combe
Yvonne Conrad
Muriel May Conway
Carisa Cook
Karina Cooper
Leanne Cooper
Helen Copley
Ruth Cordingley
Sandra Joy Cornish
Kirryn Coscarelli
Theresa Wendy 
Costelloe
Jenny Cousins
Barbara-Ann Coyne

Lisa Crisp
Carolyn Crockett
Celia Crowe
Aileen Cummins
Kathryn Cunning
Helen Curtin
Rozina Daley
Anne Dalton
Roslyn Dart
Diana Davey
Bronwyn Davidson
Belinda Davies
Heather Davies
Jennifer Davis
Tina Davis
Christina Dawson
Karen Dawson
Jacqueline de Jong
Ariane Delessert
Julie Dell
Susan Dewhirst
Ida Christine Di 
Trapani
Suzanne Dimock
Veronica Dingle
Jane Docherty
Helen Dowling
Tamara Dowse
Bronwyn Du Toit
Rosalyn Duncan
Vicky Duniam
Susan Dunne
Aniela Dzierzek
Terry Eager
Olivia Eldridge
Carmel Elliott
Marlene Erbs

Jackie Ann Fallon
Stephanie Farmer
Narelle Favazzo
Mansooreh Feiz 
Bakhsh
Pam Ferrar
Christine Fewtrell
Amanda Fidler
Margaret Fiedler
Debra Field
Helen Fisher
Carol Fletcher
Therese Florence
Kia Danielle Foord
Genevieve Foott
Debra Forbes
Ann-Marie Ford
Anne Franke
Robyn Franks
Carole French
Patricia Frith
Jeff rey Fuller
Denise Gaff 
Ellen Gaggin
Heather Gale
Anne-Margaret 
Gardner
Lynette Gentle
Julie Giles
Vanessa Gilmore
Wendy Gilson
Elizabeth Godwin
Carole Goff 
Renae Golder
Carmen Good
Robin Margrete 
Goodwin

Joanne Gourlay
Suzanne Grabowski
Deborah Graff 
Julie Grant
Elizabeth Gregor
Suzana Grguric
Sandra Grogan
Wendy Groom
Mary Guerin
Jane Gurrie
Jeanette Halgreen
Jennifer Hall
Julie Halliday
Noela Hamilton
Kerry Hampton
Karin Hanna
Mary Harrison
Evelyn Hartmann
Susan Hawkes
Barbara Hawthorne
Gayle Hayes
Beverley Haywood
Barbara Hensel
Heather Hicks
Karen Hicks
Margaret Hill
Melanie Hill
Sharon Hills
Alison Hincksman
Tinsley Hines
Melissa Hiscox
Jo-Ann Hoban
Susan Holyoak
Jeanette Hooper
Stephanie Houghton
Dianne Howitt
Vivien Hughes

Becoming a member of APNA as a recently graduate nurse has been a brilliant investment. 
As an APNA member I truly feel valued, supported and empowered both professionally 
and personally. The benefi ts are endless, with access to quality professional development, 
informative weekly e-newsletters and a quarterly magazine to keep you in the loop. The APNA 
events held throughout the year are excellent, and provide great opportunities to network with 
other nurses working in primary health care. As an APNA member, winning the 2016 APNA 
Recently Graduated Nurse of the Year Award has given me the best start to my nursing career 
and I will be forever grateful to APNA for this recognition.

Candace Bavaresco
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Charlotte Hurn
Susan Huxley
Jay Hyett
Karen Isberg
Belinda Jackson
Joanna Jacobs
Lea Jacuta
Kylie Jaeschke
Francesca Jankowski
Donna Jasper
Maree Jenkin
Joanne Johnson
Genene Johnston
Christine Jones
Patricia Jones
Deborah Joyce
Su Kyong Kang
Sophia Kappas
Charmaine Karey
Cheryl Keeling
Vicki Keig
Elizabeth Kelly
Natalie Kerrigan
Carol Kesson
Halimah Khan
Victoria Kidd
Louise Kimbell
Karen King
Linda King
Terri Kingsford
Leigh Klein
Sharon Kohlhardt
Suman Kumar
Carolyn Lally
Glenda Langford
Catherine Lanigan
Peter Larter
Seanne Lavender
Paula Lavery-brook
Leanne Lawler-Taylor
Debbie Lawson-Smith
Megan Lay
Debra Leaney
Fee Mooi Lee
Pamela Trudi 
Leembruggen
Sandra Legge
Karen Leggott
Claire Lenton
Nicole Lewis
Wendy Lewis
Karen Liccioni

Sharon Liebenberg
Joanne Lindsell
Kelly Llewellin
Judith Lodge
Maryanne Lovett
Gai Lowrey
Beverley Luke
Karen Luttrell
Darlene Lyall
Denise Lyons
Aizza Mabborang
Leanne MacCulloch
Patricia Macdonald
Teresa MacDonald
Susan MacKinnon
Maree Major
Marie Manners
Shirley-Ann Manning
Karen Mansour
Kristy Mant
Merril Manypeney
Jennifer Marano
Liane Markey
Shane Marles-Malone
Monika Anita Maron
Bettina Marie Marsden
Bobbie Martin
Carmella Marzano
Robyn Mason
Trish McCarron
Julie Mccarthy
Rachel McClintock
Carol Mccloy
Dianne McCormack
Deborah McDonald
Gae McDonald
Patricia McDonnell
Sheena McGhee
Dorothy McGregor
Susan McGregor
Anne McHugh
Enid McInerney
Bronwyn Mcintosh
Renee Grace Mckeen
Sharon Mckellar
Donna McLean
Suzanne Mcpherson
Johanna McShane
Jill Mcvaigh
Marie McWhinney
Ingrid Astrid Mears
Emma Medwell

Matthew Middleton
Amy Miles
Joy Miller
Jennifer Milotich
Narrelle Miners
Kay Mitchell
Lois Mitchell
Sandra Moff att
Andrea Moody
Joanne Moore
Robyn Moore
Glenda Morris
Fiona Morton
Paula Mulcair
Maryellen Muller
Sandra Mummery
Michelle Murphy
Tracy Murphy
Kellie Naveau
Judith Nettleton
Wendy Ngai
Sylvia Anita Nicholson
Debbie Nicol
Peta Niven
Colleen Nolan
Narelle Noon
Marie Norton
Libby Nugent
Gae Nuttall
Anne O’Connor
Dianne Old
Lynda Olsen
Lorelle Omodei
Susan Orchard-Barber
Mary O’rourke
Mary Orr
Joan Owen
Jennifer Owens
Andrea Packard
Roberta Page
Gaylene Parsell
Jillian Parsons
Debra Pash
Janelle Paterson
Joanne Paterson
Elizabeth Paton
Amanda Pauley
Helen Payne
Marlo Pearce
Catherine Pearson
Leesa Penn
Joanne Perks

Marrissa Pfl asterer
Marie Pinder
Andrew Pither
Rebecca Pleml
Lynette Pohlmann
Christine Pool
Helen Potts
Susan Power
Alison Pritchard
Juhel Pritchard
Bernadette Proctor
Josephine Puckridge
Lesley Pugh
Karen Quantick
Jennifer Ramsey
Ann-Louise Ratcliff e
Karen Ratcliff e
Patrick James Reilly
Jane Reisch
Dale Reynolds
Margaret Richards
Katharine Richardson
Michaela Riley
Robyn Roach
Sharon Robards
Judith Roberts
Debbie Robinson
Roslyn Rolleston
Elizabeth Rose
Robyn Rowe
Kate Royds
Liane Rushforth
Karen Ruskin
Gerardine Ryan
Suphap Ryan
Mary Ryder
Sandra Rymer
Therese Saba
Nikkie Salagiannis
Felicity Sander
Jane Sandford
Sandra Santis
Pamela Sawyer
Danielle Schmidt
Christine Schreiber
Allison Scott
Susan Sellers
Debra Semmens
Sonya Sewell
Miriam Shammall
Michelle Shand
Kathryn Shanley

Helen Shapira
Carolyn Sharp
Carol Shaw
Mary-Anne Sheffi  eld
Janelle 
Shorrock-Browne
Jann Simons
Melanie Ann Simons
Sheila Simpkins
Debra Skerman
Anita Smith
Barbara Smith
Kylie-Anne Smith
Sharyn Smith
Kate Sowden
Judith Spain
Narelle Spencer
Joseph Spiteri
Paola Squires
Deirdre Stacey
Julie Staff ord
Julie Starke
Meagan Starling
Pauline Mary Starr
Susan Steeles
Raylene Nicole 
Steinhardt
Kym Stewart
Le-Anne Stewart
Patricia Stocks
Helen Storer
Helen Storer
Jennifer Strike
Vicki Sundblom
Jennifer Sutcliff e
Elizabeth Jane 
Swanton
Christine Tassone
Lina Tata
Leanne Kay Taylor
Patricia Taylor
Jenny Teakle
Cristina Tejada
Diane Thomas
Suzanne Thomas
Dianne Thompson
Natalie Tibbles
Ann Tickle
Dell Tierney
Belinda Townsend
Danielle Traynor
Marilyn Tremelling

Angela Trioli
Bronwyn Turner
Michelle Turner
Robyn Turner
Lynette Tyson
Deborah Usher
Linda Van Campbell
Ruth Melinda Varenica
Jenny Vink
Vlatka Vrselja
Natasha Wagner
Janet Walker
Trish Wallis
Andrew Walmsley
Allison Walsh
Linda Walters
Robyn Wardle
Jade Wardrop
Shirley Anne Warren
Rhonda Webb
Tanya Webb
Suzanne Welch
Wendy Whelan
Janet Whetton
Catherine White
Robyn Whitling
Elizabeth Whittingham
Andrea Whitton
Frances Williams
Susan Willis
Tracey Sharon Wilson
Karina Window
Judith Winwood
Susanne Wirth
Anna Withington
Maggie Wong
Anne Woods
Maria Woods
Tanya Lee Woods
Lynette Wright
Maurice Wrightson
Sarah Wykes
Kylie Wyndham
Wei Yan
Kerry Ellen Yates
Melanie Yip
David Youds
Jacqueline Young
Rosemary Young
Angela Zaini
Michelle Zapp
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APNA would like to also thank our organisational partners for supporting the primary health care nursing workforce and sponsoring 
the membership of so many nurses across Australia. 

Organisation Members

Albert Street Medical
Angaston Medical Centre
Appletree Family Practice
Australian General Practice Accreditation Ltd
Awabakal
Ballarat Group Practice
Barrier Reef Medical Centre
Bogan Shire Medical Centre
Breed St Clinic
Brisbane North PHN
Brisbane South PHN
Cairns West Medical Centre
Calamvale Medical Centre
Capital Health Network
Centacare Catholic Family Service
Central and Eastern Sydney PHN
Central Bayside Community Health Services
Central General Practice Mansfi eld Pty Ltd
Cessnock Community Healthcare
CICX3 Family Trust John Stanton Practice Trust 

Wilow Family Trust
cohealth
Collins Street Medical Centre
Conder Surgery
Cooloola Coast Clinic
Coordinare
Cootamundra Medical Centre
Corio Medical Clinic
Correct Care Australasia
Cremorne Medical Practice
Crompton Medical Service Trust
Cunderdin Primary Health Centre
Cunninghame Arm Medical Centre
Daintree Medical Centre
Davpog Pty Ltd
Decran Investments Pty Ltd
Derby & Fitzroy Crossing GP Clinics
Dialysis Australia Pty Ltd 
Dianella Family Medical Centre
Dubbo Family Doctors
Eastern Melbourne PHN
Eastern Shore Doctors
Echuca Moama Family Medical Practice
Ferrers Medical Clinic
Firsthealth Limited
Gawler Medical Clinic
GMHBA Care Coordination Service
Gordonvale Family Medical Centre
Hamilton Doctors Pty Ltd
Hampstead Drive Medical Centre 
Hazelwood Health Group Pty Ltd

Health & Care Pty Ltd
Health & Wellbeing North Ward
Health E Medical Centre
Health HQ
Health Skills Australia
Hill Medical Services
Hills Family General Practice
Home Support Services
Homefront Nursing Pty Ltd
Hunter New England Central Coast PHN
Huon Valley Health Centre
Inala Primary Care
Independent Practitioner Network Pty Limited 

and Sonic Health Plus
Indian Ocean Territories Health Service 

Christmas Island
Investigator Clinic
John Parry Medical Centre
John Street Medical Centre
Joondalup Drive Medical Centre
Junction Street Family Practice
Kadina Medical Associates
Kardinia Health Limited
Kendal Street Medical Services P/L
Kookora Surgery
Langmore Clinic Pty Ltd
Langpark Medical Centre
Lighthouse Surgery
Limestone Coast Health Unit Trust
Lockridge Medical Centre
Loxton Health Centre
Majellan Medical Centre
Marsh Street Medical Practice P/L
Matthew Talbot Primary Health Care Clinic
Medical at My Centre Nerang
Mill House Medical Centre
Millbank Medical Practice
Milton Medical Centre
Modern Medical
Mossvale Medical Centre
Mount Martha Village Clinic
Murdoch University Health: Medical
MyClinic Group
National Asthma Council Austalia
National Health Co-op
Northern Queensland Primary Health Network
Northern Territory PHN
NSW Nurses and Midwives Association
Nurse Watch Pty Ltd
Ocean Family Medicine
Oigles Pty Ltd

Panaceum Group
Pangula Mannamurna Aboriginal Corporation
Path 2 Care
Paul Hopkins Medical Clinic
Phillipson Street Clinic
Pioneer Health
Plantagenet Medical
Primary Health Tasmania
ProCare Personnel (AUST) Pty Limited
Reedy Admin Pty Ltd
Regency Medical Clinic
Roxby Downs Family Practice
Rural and Remote Medical Services
Rusden Street Medical Practice
SA Rural Health Network
Scottsdale Doctors Surgery
Sertoli Services Pty Ltd
Shabnariz Pty Ltd
Shellharbour Medical Centre
Shepparton Medical Centre
Shoal Bay Medical Centre
Shoalhaven Family Medical Centres
South Street Medical Centre
South West Hospital and Health Service
South West Medical Centre
Southern Cross University
St Anthony Family Medical Practice
Sunshine Coast Health Network Ltd
Surfcoast Medical Centre
Swinburne University Health Services
The Benchmarque Group Pty Ltd
The Infi nity Group
The Lismore Clinic
Toukley Medical Services
Ulladulla Medical Centre
Vineyard Medical Centre
Warnervale Medical Services
Warrnambool Medical Clinic
Wentwest Limited
Wentworth Healthcare Limited
Westcare Medical Centre
Western NSW PHN
Western Queensland Primary Care 

Collaborative Ltd
Western Victoria Primary Health Network
Wheatbelt GP Network
Winton Shire Council
You Yangs Medical Clinic
YSAS Pty Ltd
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Acutely aware of the challenges that primary 
health care nurses face, APNA worked closely 
with Insurance House in 2017 to deliver 
a professional indemnity insurance policy 
for members. Delivered by nurses for nurses, 
the insurance policy gives members the 
opportunity to take charge of their insurance 
and protect their livelihood. For a very minimal 
cost, APNA has provided members with 
comprehensive protection. 

Why insurance?
APNA designed a very competitive member policy to 
help “plug the gaps” for nurses who work in one or 
more workplaces, recognising the fact that the policies 
of individual employers might not cover primary 
health care nurses for claims resulting from: 

 • their services with any previous employer

 • their past, current or future work

 • their services as a contractor, sub-contractor or 
consultant

 • if they acted outside their employment conditions, 
i.e. local sporting events

 • in the event they are sued by their employer

 • if they do any volunteer work

What is Insurance House?
Insurance House is a national insurance broker that 
provides insurance solutions across all classes of 
insurance including public liability, professional 
indemnity and business insurance. Unlike a direct 
insurer, Insurance House is able to work with a 
number of insurance companies to bring a tailored 
off ering at a competitive price to APNA members. 

Features of the policy
The comprehensive insurance policy is designed to 
cover all activities as a registered nurse, enrolled nurse, 
nurse practitioner, or student nurse, provided members 
are suitably qualifi ed and are working in accordance 
with the Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia 

PROFESSIONAL 
INDEMNITY INSURANCE

(NMBA) registration standards, professional codes 
and guidelines.

Benefi ts include:

 • Professional indemnity cover for only $110 per annum

 • $10 million limit for any one claim with two automatic 
reinstatements ($30 million aggregate) per 
insured nurse

 • Policy and certifi cate of currency issued in the 
individual’s name

 • Individual policy limit

 • Access personal legal support for registration and 
disciplinary hearings, including coronial inquiries

 • Free legal consultation (up to 30 minutes)

 • Cover for locum work

 • Cover for voluntary nurse work

 • Cover for home visits

 • Cover for Good Samaritan acts

 • Cover for antenatal/postnatal nursing services for 
which midwife qualifi cations are not required where 
it is part of a nurse’s scope of practice

 • Coverage anywhere in the world except the USA 
and Canada

 • Run off  cover; ongoing cover even after an individual 
stops working as a nurse

 • 24 hours a day, 365 days a year emergency claims 
hotline

 • Nil excess.

We have been proud to recommend this professional 
indemnity insurance policy to members throughout 
the year. The initiative has been warmly received by 
members, who have found it useful from a personal 
perspective and a clear demonstration of APNA’s 
commitment to primary health care nurses.

More information can be found on the APNA website: 
https://www.apna.asn.au/membership/insurance
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Helen Storer
Registered nurse, North 
Beach, Western Australia
Could you briefl y tell us about your nursing 
journey and why you chose to be a nurse?
I commenced my nursing training at Princess 
Margaret Children’s Hospital in Perth in 1979, 
being the last cohort that obtained a Sick 
Children’s Certifi cate as well as a general 
certifi cate. I chose to be a nurse as I came 
from the country and it allowed me to study 
and get paid at the same time. My mum and 
both my aunties were nurses and my older 
sister commenced her enrolled nursing 
around the same time.

What prompted you to work in primary 
health care?
By 1986 I had already completed my midwifery 
and met my husband who was a general 
practitioner. We had spent some time working 
in the UK before we came back to Perth in 
order for him to complete his obstetrics and 
gynaecology training. After completing this we 
headed to the country, two hours from Perth 
for him to be a solo general practitioner. 
By this time I already had one child and had 
started working in our very fi rst general practice 
two mornings a week. I had great support from 
the community health nurse and one of the 
receptionists who was a nurse and knew 
everyone. I laugh now as we had a one 
megabyte computer for accounts and there 
was no practice steriliser.

After three years I had another baby and we 
headed back to a small group practice in the 
city. I commenced working in community and 
child health, and returned to general practice 
nursing a year later after the arrival of my third 
child. I have slowly increased my hours as my 
children have grown and now work three days 
per week.

In your opinion, what are you particularly 
good at as a nurse?
I think I am good at providing support and 
education to patients both young and old. 
Being a small practice, I know most of the 
patients very well. I receive a lot of “thank God 
it’s you” moments from patients who see me, as 
they don’t want to bother the doctor with 
queries about their treatments. Mostly, they tell 
me their latest news and just need support.

What do you enjoy most about your work?
I really enjoy making a diff erence to the lives of 
patients who are isolated and have no family 
close by.

The one thing all primary health care nurses 
should know is...
To fi nd a mentor outside of their own practice. 
Someone who can listen when things go wrong, 
identify what changes you can make, support 
you through career changes, and help give 
you some perspective.

What’s your biggest workplace challenge at 
the moment?
The biggest workplace challenge at the 
moment is keeping up to date with all the 
changes such as item numbers, Health Care 
Homes, vaccinations, recommendation for 
screenings and the budget.

What are you passionate about (at work)?
I am passionate about my role in supporting 
the chronically ill as well as helping young 
mums, the elderly, carers or drug addicts who 
don’t have a support network.

How has being an APNA member helped your 
career?
APNA has allowed me to reach out to other 
primary health care nurses, learn new skills 
and have a better understanding of the direction 
I want my career to take. I have developed 
my public speaking skills by presenting at 
conferences, reviewing training modules and 
mentoring general practice nurses. I love every 
minute of it.

What was the last thing you’ve learnt 
(professionally or clinically)?
Today I did my fi rst ear syringe since 
completing the ear syringing course. I also 
learnt about an audit tool from NPS that will 
allow our practice to embrace more continuous 
quality improvements.

What would you like to learn this year?
This year I would like to learn more about 
dementia, its prevention and management. 
I wish to share my knowledge with our local 
community encouraging people to be involved 
in their own health care.
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There has been no real 
support for primary nurses 
since General Practice 
Network NT was dissolved 
over 10 years ago in the 
Northern Territory, and 
everyone present at the fi rst 
(network) meeting felt very 
excited that this networking 
event was held for nurses 
to be run by nurses in the 
primary care setting—
providing nurses with the 
support and education that 
has been requested.
Marie Bottolfsen, APNA Member and 
Darwin Nurse Network member

APNA Nurse Networks are groups 
of primary health care nurses who 
meet on a regular basis with the 
support of APNA. Being part of a 
network means a nurse can:

 • Reduce isolation and expand 
professional networks, create social 
connections and access peer mentoring 
opportunities

 • Share skills and expertise, share 
education initiatives and knowledge 
to support lifelong learning

 • Apply current best practice principles, 
with time to discuss converting new 
knowledge into practice

 • Find peers to discuss everyday practice 
issues, collaborate with nurses across 
diff erent nursing disciplines

There were 35 APNA Nurse Networks 
operating across Australia in 2017. APNA 
provides these groups with resources 
for the initial network set-up, ongoing 
marketing and promotional assistance, 
and advice on professional development. 

APNA NURSE
NETWORKS

O U R  P R O F E S S I O N

35
APNA Nurse Networks
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The following APNA Nurse Networks were 
operating across Australia in 2017:

Albury Nurse Network

Alice Springs Nurse Network

Bairnsdale Nurse Network

Barossa Kapunda and Clare Nurse Network

Bathurst Nurse Network

Bendigo Nurse Network

Brisbane North Network

Cohealth Nurse Network

Darwin Nurse Network

Frankston Nurse Network

Geraldton Nurse Network

Great Lakes Nurse Network

Happy Valley Nurse Network

Hobart Nurse Network

Horsham Nurse Network

Hunter Nurse Network

Ipswich and Western Brisbane Nurse Network

Kew Nurse Network

Knox Nurse Network

Macedon Ranges Nurse Network

Nepean Blue Mountains Nurse Network

Noosa Nurse Network

North Coast Coff s Harbour Nurse Network

North Coast Lismore Nurse Network

North Coast Port Macquarie Nurse Network

North Coast Tweed Heads Nurse Network

Northern Adelaide Nurse Network

Northern Sydney Nurse Network

Northern Sydney Nurse Network

South East Victoria Practice Nurse Network

South Eastern New South Wales Primary Health Network

Southern Adelaide Nurse Network

St Kilda Nurse Network

Tamworth Nurse Network

Wodonga Nurse Network

21



APNA WORKFORCE SURVEY 2017

1,073 
Primary health care nurses took the 

survey across the country

WHAT’S THE MOST SATISFYING PART OF THE JOB?

ARE NURSES’ ROLES BEING FULLY UTILISED?

80% 
were satisfied with their work and will 

continue working in primary health care

Caring for patients and their families  Creating positive health outcomes

Collaboration and effective  
team-based care

Being a valued member of the team

felt that they 
could do more

don’t get to use their 
knowledge and skills to 

the full extent

After speaking up to their employers, less than half were 
able to negotiate more complex tasks or extended roles.

spoke up to their employer  
about extending their role 

within their scope of practice.

29% 11% 390

+
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APNA WORKFORCE SURVEY 2017

WHAT CONDITIONS ARE NURSES WORKING UNDER?

AVERAGE HOURLY PAY BEFORE TAX

Financial and resourcing challenges
Lack of support by the  

broader healthcare team

COMMON REASONS FOR THE LACK OF CHANGE TO 
MORE COMPLEX TASKS OR EXTENDED ROLES INCLUDE:

Lack of time and finances were 
common factors impacting the 
ability to carry out their roles

did not have a formal appraisal  
of their work performance in  

the last 2 years

of respondents have 
never been offered  

a pay increase

AVERAGE HOURLY PAY BEFORE TAX

WA NT SA QLD NSW ACT VIC TAS

Registered 
Nurse $35.58 $45.2 $38.98 $34.5 $37.75 $37.25 $37.53 $38.03

Enrolled nurse $24.57 * $28.26 $27.83 $30.32 $33 $26.94 $31.98

Nurse  
practitioner $53.2 *  * * $46 * $44.9 *

Nurse and  
Midwife $47 $73.5 $41.48 $41.71 $40.89 $40 $36.51 $38

Direct Entry 
Midwife * * * * * * $45.56 *

*insufficient data

50% 31%
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O U R  P R O F E S S I O NP R O V I D I N G  N U R S E S  W I T H  A  V O I C E

APNA provides primary health care nurses 
with a voice and advocates on their behalf 
through its policy and advocacy work. This 
year APNA developed two new position 
statements, responded to a number 
of external consultations and provided 
representation on various external 
committees, projects and meetings. 

All of APNA’s position statements and submissions are 
developed with member input. Throughout the year 
members have been encouraged to respond to various 
consultations via its email newsletter APNA Connect 
and quarterly publication Primary Times. APNA also 
engages an expert committee, the Policy Position 
and Advocacy Reference Group (PPARG) to guide 
its policy and advocacy work. 

Membership of the PPARG for 2017 was as follows:
Karen Booth – Chair (President)
Julianne Badenoch 
Jane Bollen   
Melissa Cromarty  
Sandy Eagar     
Matthew Middleton    
Tracy Murphy     
Amanda Smith

Position statements 
The following is a summary of the APNA position 
statements and submissions developed in 2017: 

Improving patient outcomes: Primary health care nurses 
working to the breadth of their scope of practice 2017
This paper outlines the advantages of nurses working 
to their full scope of practice which includes benefi ts 
to the health and wellbeing of the Australian community 
and the healthcare system more broadly. Where 

possible APNA has been advocating on behalf of 
its members to ensure that the primary health care 
nursing workforce is better utilised. 

Health Care Homes 2017
This paper supports the Australian Government’s 
Health Care Homes model and its key characteristics. 
It highlights that nurses will play an essential role in 
the delivery of Health Care Homes. 

APNA also advocated for primary health care nurses
 to be represented on various committees and working 
groups to guide the policy and implementation 
framework for the Health Care Homes model. As a 
result APNA is now represented on the following 
working groups: Health Care Homes Clinical Reference 
group; Health Care Homes Guidelines, Education and 
Training Working Group (GET); Health Care Homes 
Project Advisory Group (PAG); and the Health Care 
Homes Resource Development Group (RDG). 

It is apparent that APNA representatives and members 
have been a strong voice for primary health care nurses 
as various Health Care Homes resources showcase the 
breadth of nursing practice within primary health care. 
Furthermore, a Health Care Homes webinar features 
APNA board members Jane Bollen and Melissa Cromarty 
on the role of nurses in transformation as part of 
the Health Care Homes trial. 

A nurse practitioner can also be an enrolled patient’s 
nominated clinician under the Health Care Homes 
model. Chris Helms, with the support of APNA, played 
an instrumental role in advocating for this to occur. 

A full copy of APNA’s position statements can be 
found here: https://www.apna.asn.au/profession/
APNA-position-statements.

APNA submissions 
Computer Prescription Stationery
In June 2017 APNA provided feedback to the Australian 
Government Department of Human Services on the 

POLICY AND 
ADVOCACY
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proposed changes to Group 1 – PBS/RPBS Computer 
Prescription Stationery. APNA’s submission supported 
the standardisation of computer prescription 
stationery to support current prescribing practices, 
particularly those with multiple prescribers within 
the same practice.

Feedback to the Department also voiced concerns 
raised amongst our nurse practitioner membership 
that some pharmacists are currently rejecting nurse 
practitioner prescriptions despite prescribing being 
within their scope of practice. Therefore to minimise 
ambiguity, APNA strongly advocated for a clear 
communication and education strategy around 
prescribing and dispensing requirements for all 
relevant stakeholders.

The Australian Government Department of Health’s 
consultation on the proposed National Guidelines for 
Yellow Fever Vaccination Centres and Providers: 
APNA submission
Given that many primary health care nurses routinely 
deliver vaccinations within their scope of practice, 
APNA’s response to this consultation highlighted 
how the breadth of the nursing role could be better 
refl ected within the proposed national guidelines. 

Western Australian Sustainable Health Review
APNA’s recommendations for a more sustainable, 
patient-centred health system in Western Australia 
included specifi c strategies that centred on better 
utilisation of the existing primary health care nursing 
workforce such as nurses working to full scope of 
practice and leading aspects of care within their 
scope of practice. The submission also identifi ed 
the need to provide opportunities for undergraduate 
and graduate nurses to enter the primary health 
care nursing workforce. 

The Pharmacy Guild of Australia’s consultation 
regarding the future of community pharmacy
APNA’s submission to this consultation called upon 
the community pharmacy sector to better utilise 
and integrate primary health care nursing within 

community pharmacy. It also identifi ed opportunities 
for community pharmacy and other primary health care 
services to better coordinate patient care for improved 
health outcomes. 

The Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia and the 
Australian and New Zealand Council of Chief Nursing and 
Midwifery Offi  cers consultation regarding registered nurse 
and midwife prescribing
APNA supports the expansion of the model of prescribing 
for registered nurses beyond nurse practitioners and 
endorsed midwives. Allowing appropriately trained 
and supported nurses to prescribe within their scope 
of practice in primary health care settings is likely to 
reduce the pressure on Australia’s health care system 
and increase timely access to care and medications.

APNA broadly supports the proposed framework for 
registered nurse prescribing as outlined in table one 
of the Registered nurse and midwife prescribing – Discussion 
paper. However adequate training and education in 
pharmacology and quality use of medicines will be an 
essential component underpinning all three models of 
prescribing. There should also be consistency across 
all state and territory undergraduate and post graduate 
education requirements.

APNA believes that any change to prescribing practices 
will require change in health service and systems. Therefore 
‘systems transformation’ should be considered an 
additional key element incorporated as part of a nationally 
consistent framework of prescribing by registered nurses 
and midwives.

A full copy of APNA’s submissions can be found here: 
https://www.apna.asn.au/profession/
consultations-and-submissions
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P R O V I D I N G  N U R S E S  W I T H  A  V O I C E

APNA Representatives

The purpose of APNA is to be the peak national body 
for nurses working in primary health care, providing 
representation, professional development and support 
at a local, state and national level.

In fulfi lling this purpose, APNA frequently draws on 
the expertise of members to represent the organisation 
and profession on external committees, projects 
and meetings.

APNA greatly values the contributions made by its 
representatives.

Representatives are expected to:

 • bring their expertise and commitment to bear when 
representing APNA

 • maintain a high degree of professional conduct at all 
times when representing APNA

 • declare any actual or potential confl icts of interest

 • prepare for each meeting by undertaking any reading 
as required, and by remaining informed about issues 
for consideration

 • maintain a current understanding of, and eff ectively 
represent, APNA policy positions

 • maintain a current understanding of the environment 
in which APNA operates, to encourage relevancy and 
responsiveness to pertinent issues

 • attend a majority of meetings, to promote continuity

 • participate fully and frankly in deliberations and 
discussions, to encourage a diversity of opinion

 • demonstrate a willingness to listen to the opinions 
of others, and to consider them; to foster an 
atmosphere of collegiality and respect

 • provide a written report to APNA following 
each meeting

 • maintain and respect confi dentiality as appropriate

 • abide by any decisions made by the Board of 
Directors, recognising and understanding that 
the APNA Board remains the ultimate fi nal 
representative of the APNA membership base.

ADVOCACY AND 
REPRESENTATION

Committees

Asthma Australia Consultative Forum

ASHM Removing Barriers (HIV Stigma) Nursing 
Working Group

ACCRM Telehealth Advisory Committee

Australian Strategic and Technical Advisory Group 
on Antimicrobial Resistance

Australian Primary Care Collaborative (APCC) Quality 
Improvement Advisors Committee

Cancer Screening Primary Care Advisory Group

Caring Safely for Australians at Home -Steering Committee

Julianne Badenoch

Donna von 
Blanckensee

Jane Bollen

Karen Booth

Patrice Caff erky

Lisa Clements

Melissa Cromarty

Julieanne Crow

Kathy Godwin

Denise Lyons

Leanne Laurie

Marie McWhinney

Nicole McClure

Jo Perks

Lesley Pugh

Roslyn Rolleston

Del Lovett 

Rebekah Cox

Lisa Collison

Linda Govan

M E M B E R S  W H O 
R E P R E S E N T E D  A P N A  I N  2 0 1 7
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Choosing Wisely: Consumer Engagement 
and Activation Project 

Cold Chain Education Module for immunisation 
providers – Subject matter expert group

CoNNMO – Council Member

Coordinated Veterans’ Care Program – Mental Health 
Pilot Clinical Reference Group

Coordinated Veteran’s Care Program – Working Group

Decision Assist – National Advisory Group

Dementia Clinic in Primary Practice Advisory Group

Disease Prevention, Health Promotion and Population 
Health Committee

Epidemic Thunderstorm Asthma Working Group

Exercise is Medicine Advisory Council

Expert Reference Group for projects on Workforce 
Development and Mental Health (Project 1)

Expert Reference Group for projects on Workforce 
Development and Mental Health (Project 2)

General Practice Accreditation Coordinating Committee

General Practice Roundtable

Graduate Certifi cate in Primary Health Care

Health Care Homes: Clinical Reference Group (CRG)

Health Care Homes Guidelines, Education and Training 
Working Group (GET)

Health Care Homes: Project Advisory Group (PAG)

Health Care Homes: Resource Development 
Group (RDG)

Health Consultative Forum

Hunter Primary Care

Kidney Check Australia Taskforce – Education 
in Nursing General Practice subcommittee

Masters in Primary Health Care

MBS Review Taskforce

My Health Record Expansion Program 
Steering Committee

National Primary Health Care Partnership

Nursing and Allied Health Scholarship and Support 
Scheme Scholarship Advisory Group

National Advisory Committee on Vaccines (ACV)

National Asthma Council Australia Board

National Early Career Nurses and Midwives roundtable 
with associated working group 

National Expert Committee on Standards for 
General Practices

National Hepatitis B Reference Committee

National Immunisation Committee

National Nursing & Midwifery Education Advisory 
Network (NNMEAN)

NNMEAN – Mental Health Working Group

Neuropathic Pain Expert Working group

National Refugee Health Resource Project 
Advisory Group

Nursing and Midwifery Strategic Reference 
Group (NMSRG)

Osteoarthritis Expert Working Group

Partner Reference Group – Renewal of the National 
Cervical Screening Program

Patient Safety and Quality Improvement in Primary Care

People with Intellectual Disability – Cervical, Breast and 
Bowel Screening Project 

Primary Care Roundtable on Reducing Inappropriate 
Use of Antipsychotics in Older People

Primary Healthcare Advisory Committee

PHN Immunisation Support Program Advisory Group

Project Advisory Group – Update of the Arrival Refugee 
Health Assessment Template/Tool 

Project Steering Committee for Mental Health Nurse 
Incentive Program

Queensland Clinical Senate

Question Builder Advisory Group

RACGP Green book (Third edition) Working Group

Steering Committee – National Guidelines on the 
Diagnosis of Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD)
 in Australia Project

Topic Working Group Developing a Clinical Care 
Standard on Osteoarthritis

Victorian Chronic Disease Prevention Alliance Workshop 
on Integrated Risk Assessment
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The Transition to Practice Pilot Program 
(TPPP) aims to increase the knowledge, 
skills, confi dence and competence of both 
recently graduated and established nurses 
starting work in primary health care settings. 
This is done through professional and clinical 
guidance, supported with elements of formal 
education. The program is designed to be 
accessible, structured and fl exible.

Tranche 1 of the Transition to Practice Pilot Program 
was successfully completed from January to April 2017. 
The transitioning nurses’ self-assessments over the 
12 month program demonstrated clear increases in 
knowledge, skills and confi dence. 

At the commencement of the program, the average 
transitioning nurse’s self-rating of their knowledge, 
skills and confi dence across 11 core primary health 
care areas ranged from 1.9 to 3.0, (the rating of one 
being minimal and fi ve advanced). After 12 months of 
program participation, the average nurse’s self-rating 
has increased, from 3.7 to 4.4. 

Our focus on evaluation throughout Tranche 1 (surveys, 
interviews and data analysis) helped us improve the 
project model for Tranche 2.

Tranche 2 commenced in April 2017. Following an 
expression of interest process, 219 applications were 
received and assessed by a selection panel. From the 
applications 27 transitioning nurses were selected 

and matched with experienced nurse support. 
Transitioning nurses, and clinical and professional 
mentors participated in a two-day face-to-face 
capacity building workshop held in Melbourne on 
28–29 April 2017.

During 2017, transitioning nurses completed 
and uploaded their self-assessment framework 
three times. They developed and enacted action 
plans in consultation with their nurse support and 
undertook identifi ed educational activities. Results 
from Tranche 2 self-assessments to date indicate the 
majority of nurses are reporting increased knowledge, 
skills and confi dence in the core elements of primary 
health care. Evaluation of the program is ongoing.

N U R S I N G  I N  P R I M A R Y  H E A L T H  C A R E  P R O G R A M

TRANSITION TO PRACTICE 
PILOT PROGRAM

Transition to Practice Pilot Program is being developed and implemented with funding by the Australian Government 
Department of Health as part of the Nursing in Primary Health Care Program
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In 2017, APNA fi nalised and launched the 
Career and Education Framework for 
Nurses in Primary Health Care, a resource 
to support the recruitment and retention 
of nurses in primary health care.

Extensive consultation 
and engagement…
The project began in early 2016 and involved an 
extensive engagement and consultation phase. 
It included a range of face-to-face and online 
workshops, focus groups, key stakeholder interviews, 
publications and conference presentations, which 
resulted in the successful engagement with over 
700 nurses and other health professionals.

A vast amount of data was collected, collated and 
analysed by the APNA project team, with the following 
key themes: the important role of the career and 
education framework as a workforce initiative; the need 
for the framework to re-engineer primary health care 
as a fi rst choice for nurses considering their next career 
step; that it helps improve the perceived value of these 
roles; the rewarding employment opportunities; and the 
myriad career progression options available.

Consultation continued in the fi rst six months of 
2017, with over 1,000 nurses and health professionals 
engaged in the project. In the second phase of 
consultation, primary health care nurses led the 
design, structure and functionality of the framework. 
A prototype was developed and refi ned through nearly 
40 one-on-one interviews. Through these interviews, 

we came to understand how the nursing workforce 
seeks and retrieves career information, so that we could 
ensure that fi nal product would be accessible, readable 
and relatable to those it was designed for.

The content was developed using a Delphi Study 
Methodology, to reach consensus amongst the 
nurses involved in the consultation process. Separate 
frameworks for registered nurses and enrolled nurses 
were developed through this approach, with input 
from key stakeholders.

… for better 
recruitment 
and retention 
The result is My Nursing Future (MyNursingFuture.com.
au), an interactive website that explores the diff erent 
sectors within primary health care. The recruitment 
component of the site is a career quiz, which asks 
a series of questions about an individual’s personal 
and professional attributes and then suggests sectors 
within primary health care that are best suited to 
the individual. The retention component of the site 
is the framework itself, embedded as a self-assessment 
tool, which allows nurses to review their level of 
practice across the fi ve domains of primary health 
care nursing and produce a tailored report to support 
their career progression and continuing professional 
development planning.

An extensive marketing campaign was designed 
and implemented in late 2017 following the launch of 
My Nursing Future. The campaign resulted in almost 
8,000 users accessing the site in the fi rst fi ve months.

Career and Education Framework is being developed and implemented with funding by the Australian Government 
Department of Health as part of the Nursing in Primary Health Care Program
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In 2017 the Enhanced Nurse Clinics project 
supported the establishment of 11 nurse 
clinic models, located in metropolitan, 
regional and rural primary health care 
settings across Australia. 

Our focus was on increasing the level of knowledge
and understanding of nurse clinic models and sharing 
the experiences and lessons learnt from each clinic 
to help promote continuous improvement. 

The nurse clinic tool kit and resources take into 
account all the elements that support and challenge 
the establishment of nurse clinics. They are designed 
to increase awareness of nurse clinic models and 
support nurses and employers in their own 
clinical establishment.

Our approach was to engage with nursing and other 
primary health care stakeholders directly to understand 
their issues and knowledge gaps. This helped us hone 
the quality and accessibility of content and the level 
of detail in the nurse clinic resources and toolkit. 

We organised the content into a series of eight building 
blocks, each containing the key components for 

establishing a nurse clinic. The building blocks provide 
a modular and replicable approach to establishing 
a nurse clinic, rather than attempting to create 
a one-size-fi ts-all model. Use of the building blocks 
enables the development of models that suit the local 
context and account for factors such as community 
need, staff  availability, expertise and organisational 
capacity. The building blocks reinforce the principle that 
there is no single approach to setting up a nurse clinic.

Nurse clinic resources are promoted and located on 
the APNA website. A range of content has been included 
within each building block, and comprehensive case 
studies are provided to showcase the experiences 
of diff erent clinics.

The building blocks 
provide a modular and 
replicable approach 
to establishing a nurse 
clinic, rather than 
attempting to create 
a one-size-fi ts-all model.

Enhanced Nurse Clinics is being developed and implemented with funding by the Australian Government Department of 
Health as part of the Nursing in Primary Health Care Program.
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Visit APNA website to access Enhanced Nurse Clinics’ 
tools and resources: www.apna.asn.au/nurseclinics

A clear plan

Best practice
Patient 

engagement
Systems and 

processes
Evaluation and 
improvement

Location and 
facilities Sta�  ng and HRFunding

• Identifying opportunities 
• Creating the plan 
• Aims and goals
• Clinic models

• Evidence-based care
• Clinical guidelines
• Quality Improvement 

approach

• Types of funding and 
how they apply to clinics

• Sustainability

• Patient pathways 
• Creating appointments
• Reminders and recalls
• Promoting the clinic

• Physical space
• Clinic operating times
• Equipment

• Roles and responsibilities
• Human resource policies 

and planning
• Professional development
• Working as a team
• Formulating relationships

• Appointment systems
• Referrals
• Patient registers
• Forms, templates 

and policies
• Data management

• Health outcomes
• Clinic effi  ciency
• Evaluating the patient 

experience
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APNA NATIONAL CONFERENCE 2017 
STATE OF THE ART
Developed by nurses for nurses, APNA’s annual 
conference has forged a strong reputation over 
the past eight years for meeting learning needs, 
building collegiality and fuelling inspiration, 
ideas and action. True to form, State of the Art 
delivered in spades.

From 4 to 6 May, a celebration of the profession of primary 
health care nursing took place at APNA’s 2017 National 
Conference. The MC duo of Zara and Troy Swindells-Grose 
entertained us once again as the conference’s “spirit guides” 
for an action-packed few days. The conference was just shy 
of 600 delegates, and had more than 120 presenters,  
55 exhibitors and 40 sessions on offer.

Through keynotes, workshops, awards, panels, abstracts, 
posters and social events, the State of the Art theme 
resonated throughout the conference program. 

APNA President Karen Booth set the scene with her 
welcome address in the opening plenary, reflecting on  
the attributes of the current day nurse working in primary 
health care: scientific, innovative, sophisticated, and of 
course, magical. 

The highly rated abstract of Recently Graduated Nurse  
of the Year Finalist Robbie Bedbrook aligned with the 
conference theme perfectly. Robbie presented on his 
innovation, Hot on Health, a contemporary strategy  
to promote primary health care through technology  
and social media.

State of the Art showcased cutting-edge cases of service 
innovation, efficient models of care, quality and safety  
in practice, leadership in nursing, and the significant  
steps being made to advance the profession.

How we lead
By recognising the high standards being set within 
the profession, State of the Art is a vehicle for further 
progression. One nurse delegate said, “I came away 
very inspired for how I can move the profession 
forward, and how I can further value myself as  
a primary health care nurse.”

Undoubtedly, those recognised in the 2017 APNA 
Nurse Awards provided such inspiration. A message 
pushed by both Jane Butcher and Samantha Moses, 
Rosemary Bryant Award recipient and President’s 
Award recipient, was that in order to progress  
the profession in the interests of better health 
outcomes, nurses need to put themselves on  
the agenda.

In referring to a number of different campaigns 
throughout history that have sought to progress  
the nursing profession, with varying success, one 
message that resonated was Professor Sanchia 
Aranda’s call to nurses not to downplay the work  
you do as “ordinary.” A nurse herself, Sanchia 
implored the packed plenary ballroom to learn  
to talk about your practice in a significant way,  
to claim the meaningful contribution you make  
to health care. Equipping the audience with  
a handy and adaptable technique to figure out  
their own “elevator pitch” to speak confidently  
about the great work they are doing.

How we grow
There was a lot of excitement flowing from the 
updates from APNA’s Career and Education 
Framework for Nurses in Primary Health Care.  
The interactive workshop, discussions and self-
assessment tool being trialled at the APNA booth,  
as well as premiering a couple of the settings-based 
videos fuelled anticipation for the launch of the  
tool later in the year and how it will strengthen  
the profession.

A workshop showcasing APNA’s Enhanced Nurse 
Clinics and the key learnings thus far on how to set 
up and run a successful nurse clinic was a clear 
feature, inspiring a lot of enquiries into the potential 
for setting up more nurse clinics across Australia.

C O N F E R E N C E  2 0 1 7
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APNA NATIONAL CONFERENCE 2017 
STATE OF THE ART

How we think
A number of sessions challenged nurses to think outside 
the box in some of their daily practices. 

Dr Bruce Bolam highlighted the tremendous health 
promotion that nurses are already rolling out, inviting  
the audience to think about how they could do this  
better, for example, by shifting the focus from the patient 
onto the potentially adverse behaviour. Dr Bolam noted 
the ability to identify the social determinants of health  
in a patient and to provide non-stigmatising care as  
a common and pivotal strength of nurses in their health 
promotion practice. A health professional can have  
a significant influence, even if it takes an extended period  
of time, leading to behavioural change to improve health 
outcomes when such ‘care’ is present in health care.

The team behind the world’s first free mobile laundry  
for the homeless, Orange Sky Laundry, showed us how  
their simple idea became a leading example of service 
innovation. Importantly, Nic Marchesi and Lucas Patchett 
spoke of how this service has not only helped restore 
personal hygiene and respect, but serves as a catalyst  
for conversation, positively linking back people who are 
commonly disconnected with the community. How this 
then impacts on the individual’s mental and physical 
health certainly struck a chord with the crowd.

The power of a conversation was further explored by the 
popular Asking Better Questions workshop. Lindsey Tighe 
empowered nurse delegates to open doors to better 
communication with their patients, making them more 
conscious of their communication and teaching them  
how to recognise when and how to ask (the right) 
questions rather than advice giving or telling.

How we value
Recognition from within, and how that leads to 
progression, permeated through presentations.

There was a lot to be gained from the findings of the  
first tranche of APNA’s Transition to Practice Pilot  
Program, a mentoring and professional development  
pilot for nurses transitioning into primary health care 
settings, either as graduate nurses or experienced  
nurses coming from the acute sector. How we develop 
and support nurses in their early stages has to come  
from positive role models. This will go a long way to 
bolstering the health workforce and improving health 
outcomes. Nurses can only be recognised and valued  
as much as they recognise their own value.

Workshops offering updates in writing care plans, wound 
care, asthma and the 75-year-old health assessment, 
amongst others, turned the everyday bread and butter 

practices of a nurse in primary health care into  
crème brûlée.

In instructing nurses how to write a care plan, for 
example, the impassioned and astute Ros Rolleston 
was able to upskill nurses to ultimately put a stronger 
business case identifying their worth to their practice, 
in order to be valued in return.

How we connect
Somehow simultaneously spectacular yet 
understatedly quaint, Hobart was a popular  
choice among nurses. Being away from the  
hustle and bustle of Australia’s biggest cities  
seemed to have a calming impact that helped foster 
that friendly, collegial environment. Delegates 
maximised the education and networking on offer, 
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many also involved their families by bringing along 
spouses to social events and allowing some time 
either side of the conference to take in some of the 
sites of this enchanting city and broader Tasmania.

No greater example is there than that of the aptly 
titled State of the Art Evening at MONA where more 
than 400 attendees, including many partners of 
delegates, embarked on this unforgettable event.  
An abundance of incredible grazing-style food, flowing 
drinks, mingling and dancing well into the night, and  
a gallery that’s architecture, works and ambience 
more than lives up to its iconic status. A common view 
was captured by one nurse delegate who said, 
“MONA was a totally unforgettable experience, and  
it felt really special for nurses to be treated this way, 
thank you to APNA.”

Your feedback following the conference recorded  
a 96% satisfaction rate with State of the Art, with 
overwhelmingly positive responses to the conference 
program (90% satisfied or very satisfied) with a 
number of describing it as “relevant”, “engaging”, 
“inspiring” and “informative.” Opportunities to  
network at State of the Art were found to be good  
or excellent by 93% of delegates.

In providing feedback, one delegate commented:  
“It was a great opportunity to see and learn innovative 
ideas in primary health services across Australia,  
and also to network and reunite with friends and  
past colleagues. Thank you so much, I had an 
unforgettable time and learning experience!”

Thank you kindly
State of the Art has been 12 months in the making,  
and its success was the culmination of the hard  
work, creativity and enthusiasm of many  
passionate contributors.

APNA staff, Board and conference organisers Liz  
and Gary Baldwin of Baldwin Consulting Group led 
the charge, with strong guidance from trusted nurse 
consultants and our passionate membership. From 
developing a balanced conference program, to 

selecting the playlist for the DJ at the evening at MONA, 
contributions were broad and much appreciated.

A special mention to Joanne Perks, Jacqui Young, Nicole 
McClure, Helen Storer, Jeff Fuller, Debbie Clatworthy,  
and Michelle Thompson for their work in reviewing the 
strong cohort of abstracts submitted. Joanne, Jacqui, 
Nicole, Helen and Jeff, along with Margaret Chesterman, 
Leesa Penn, Georgina McHugh, Mary Reynolds, Peta 
Niven and Bernadette Suter also played an important 
role in facilitating a number of concurrent sessions  
during the conference. 

APNA has been the beneficiary of strong partnerships 
with a number of long-standing sponsors. We are 
thankful to have had their support again as sponsors  
and exhibitors, as well as welcoming a number of fresh 
additions to this diverse and relevant line-up. This 
support enables us to keep the cost of our conferences 
reasonable and accessible to nurses. Feedback indicates 
that exhibitors and delegates mutually benefit from the 
opportunity to engage with each other. Delegates learn 
about cutting-edge resources, services, products and 
programs, while exhibitors gain from such great 
exposure, and can talk directly to their target market.

Hosting the conference for nurse professionals is 
genuinely a great privilege that we at APNA find 
tremendously rewarding. We appreciate the significant 
investment that nurses make to attend and hence,  
aspire to meet your learning needs, facilitate meaningful 
connections and enrich how each nurse values their 
profession and the pivotal role they play within it.  
We believe great actions can come from the ideas  
and discussions inspired by our conferences. From all  
of us at APNA, thank you to the delegates for your 
contribution to State of the Art—it will be a hard to top, 
but we love a challenge.
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Quotes from delegates

“A nice balance of nursing, 
networking, nurturing ourselves 
and our profession, and fun!”

“Two of us came from North Queensland 
and we really had so much to think 
about when we came back home. It’s so 
busy as we return to the workforce but 
underneath there is a renewed sense 
of purpose between us and I’m sure we 
will be able to make more of a diff erence 
in the future. In our hearts and heads 
we knew that it was a very valuable few 
days that has planted many small seeds 
towards doing our job better and more 
meaningfully. We do belong, we do make 
a diff erence.”

“Amazing... I felt so incredibly inspired after it. I met 
some lovely people and really enjoyed the presentations. 
The whole thing was excellent and how privileged we 
were to attend MONA! Food and drinks, everything was 
spot on! I’m also a midwife and have recently become 
a practice nurse. I’m so glad to have reconnected with 
my old profession nursing. What an amazing bunch of 
people we are! Thank you ever so much APNA for making 
this possible!”

“As always, an enjoyable investment in my 
professional life.”

”

”

Incredibly impressed! 
A perfectly planned and 
executed conference. 
Perhaps the best I’ve 
been to in Australia.

“The conference was very 
well organised and had a 
vast variety of topics and 
specialties represented. I 
came away very inspired 
for how I can move the 
profession forward, and how 
I can further value myself as 
a primary health care nurse.”

“This was my fi rst 
attendance at an APNA 
conference and I loved 
it. Most empowering 
and the opportunity 
to celebrate the great 
work that nurses do.”

Always love the 
APNA conference: so 
much learning, so 
much support, so 
much networking, 
so much fun.

“

Amazing conference, with amazing colleagues. Such 
a privilege to be able to attend and meet others with 

the same passion for primary health care, and to 
acknowledge the uniqueness of our area of nursing.“

“
Thanks for such a great conference. 
I feel like we learnt a lot, we had the 
chance to meet some inspiring people 
passionate about primary care.“

“ I absolutely loved the 2017 conference. Enjoyed 
catching up with nurses I had met last year in 
Melbourne. It’s such a great opportunity to network 
with other nurses from all around the country and 
realise how amazing we all are. Everyone does 
something a little bit different—it’s fascinating. 
Always a lot of fun. Thank you. See you next year 
in Brisbane.

“

The conference was fantastic. 
Best one I have been to.”The conference was fantastic. ”The conference was fantastic. ”Best one I have been to.”Best one I have been to.

“

It was the best conference 
I’ve been to. There were so 
many fantastic presenters 
and keynotes that it was 
hard to pick which sessions 
to attend. So many great 
opportunities to network 
and talk to other nurses.

“
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590+ DELEGATES

40 SESSIONS

120+ SPEAKERS

55 EXHIBITORS

OF DELEGATES WERE SATISFIED OR  
VERY SATISFIED WITH THE  

CONFERENCE EVENT

 WERE SATISFIED OR VERY SATISFIED 
 WITH THE KEYNOTE SPEAKERS

WERE SATISFIED WITH THE  
TRADE EXHIBITION

WERE SATISFIED OR BETTER 
WITH THE MCS

RATING THE NETWORKING OPPORTUNITIES  
AT THE CONFERENCE AS GOOD  

OR EXCELLENT

WERE SATISFIED OR BETTER WITH  
THE CONFERENCE PROGRAM

LEFT THE CONFERENCE FEELING VALUED  
AS A PRIMARY HEALTH CARE NURSE

FELT INSPIRED IN THEIR ROLE AS 
A PRIMARY HEALTH CARE NURSE

FOUND THE CONFERENCE RELEVANT  
TO THEIR PRACTICE/CLINICAL SETTING

96% 96% 96%

93% 93% 90%

86% 85% 83%

Key stats
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M E M B E R  P R O F I L E

Lesley Pugh
General Practice Nurse, 
Doncaster East, Victoria
Could you briefly tell us about your nursing 
journey and why you chose to be a nurse?
I remember, even in early childhood, wanting to be  
a nurse when I grew up. My dream was realised as  
I embarked on a nursing career—initially as an 
enrolled nurse, then completing a registered nursing 
degree. Now after working as nurse for 40 years, my 
passion for nursing has not changed. I have never 
wanted to change careers. I love nursing.

After getting married and having four children, 
employment in the acute sector and keeping up  
with shift work started becoming more difficult to 
maintain. It was during this time I was offered a 
nursing role at a general practice in South Australia. 
I loved the role from the first day. It gave me the 
opportunity to develop ongoing relationships with 
patients and the possibility of being involved in all 
aspects of health care including health promotion, 
rather than just reactive health care. 

I have worked in many roles within the primary 
health care setting including project work with the 
Telehealth nursing consortia and the Early Diagnosis 
of Dementia project which involved developing 
guidelines, contributing to the development of 
online education modules and delivering face-to-
face education for nurses. 

I have been employed as a practice nurse consultant 
within a primary health care network, providing 
mentoring and education to primary health care 
nurses. During my 18 years in primary health care I 
have earned many qualifications including the 
teaching on the run qualification, ear syringing 
education and If Not Dieting education. I am also 
qualified as an immunisation provider, pap smear 
provider and in wound care. I am currently studying 
a Masters of Nursing and working towards 
becoming a nurse practitioner. I am also involved 
with APNA in the Transition to Practice Pilot Program 
as a mentor.

What prompted you to work in primary  
health care?
Initially I was invited by another general practice 
nurse when the clinic needed another nurse. Very 
quickly I could see this was a role where I could care 
for patients, build a team and make a long-term 
difference by encouraging patients to take 
responsibility for their own health.

In your opinion, what are you particularly good 
at as a nurse?
I think I am skilled at seeing the big picture of how 
primary health care can have a positive impact on 
community health. I think I am able to provide high 
quality nursing care and have an ability to listen to 

patients in a way that builds trust, confidence and 
encourages empowerment and self-care. I also enjoy 
mentoring nurses in a supportive and nurturing way.

What do you enjoy most about your work?
I find great satisfaction in seeing patients move from  
a place of passivity about their health care to a place  
of empowerment with the ability to be involved in  
shaping their own health. I enjoy giving my input into  
the primary health sector and making a difference for  
nurses in this domain.

The one thing all primary health care nurses should 
know is...
Primary health care is a nursing role where you care  
for people’s health needs but much more than that, you 
have the ability to be part of their journey from birth to 
death and all that goes in between, and that brings with  
it great joy, sadness and responsibility. You have the 
capacity to impact your patients positively through health 
care, health promotion and building strong relationships 
with your patients.

What’s your biggest workplace challenge at the 
moment?
I am very passionate about building a strong primary 
health care nursing sector. I want to see patients 
empowered by good education, support and mentoring, 
some of which can be provided by primary health care 
nurses. I am driven to provide quality nursing care, build 
trust and a safe place for the patients I interact with.

How has being an APNA member helped your career?
The benefits of being an APNA member for me has been 
the knowledge I’ve been able to receive from the multiple 
resources provided under the APNA umbrella, including 
personal support, education and advice, and the learning 
and experience from APNA’s annual national conference. 
Being able to give back to APNA by providing education, 
contract work and mentoring has helped me grow and 
develop in my capacity and confidence as a primary 
health care nurse.
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E D U C A T I O N

APNA’s Endorsement Program recognises best practice learning 
within the context and scope of primary health care nurse education. 
APNA’s Endorsement Program is designed to ensure that training 
and education off ered to primary health care nurses is current, 
relevant, professionally delivered and includes formal evaluation.

APNA ENDORSEMENT 
PROGRAM

National Cervical Cancer Screening – NPS 
MedicineWise

Victorian Osteoarthritis Model of Care – 
St Vincent’s Hospital

Level 2 Wellness Coaching Skills in Practice – 
Wellness Coaching Australia

Food and Nutritional Health course for Health 
Professionals – Health Coaches International 
(previously known as Food Studies Australia)

The National Health Education and Training in 
Simulation (NHET-SIM) Program – Monash 
University

Hearing Loss in Adults: Improving Identifi cation in 
General Practice – Australian Hearing

Fundamentals of HIV and Sexual Health: 
Expanding the Scope of Primary Health Care 
Nurses – Australasian Society for HIV, Viral 
Hepatitis and Sexual Health Medicine (ASHM)

Hepatitis B Nursing: Advanced Nursing 
Management and Care  – Australasian Society 
for HIV, Viral Hepatitis and Sexual Health 
Medicine (ASHM)

Short course in Sexual Health Nursing – 
Australasian Society for HIV, Viral Hepatitis 
and Sexual Health Medicine (ASHM)

Infant Nutrition (the case for leaving out A1 
beta-casein) – MD Briefcase

Health Behaviour Change Guidance and 
Strategies Course: Lifestyle – Health Coaches 
International (previously known as Food 
Studies Australia)

STI/HIV Testing Tool – New South Wales Sexually 
Transmissible Infections Programs Unit

Low FODMAP Seminar for Nurses and Allied 
Healthcare Professionals – FODMAP Friendly 
Pty Ltd

Diabetes in Practice for Practice Nurses – 
Diabetes Qualifi ed

Accu-Chek Step Program for Primary Healthcare 
Nurses – Roche

Use of Practice Population Health Data to Plan 
Patient Care– COORDINARE

Diabetes Management for Health Professionals 
– Diabetes Queensland

Nutrition Screening and Malnutrition 
Management in Older Adults – Grand Pacifi c 
Health

Wound Management Resource Program – 
The William Light Institute

Primary Care Asthma Update – National Asthma 
Council Australia

Asthma and Respiratory Management Seminar 
for Practice Nurses – National Asthma 
Council Australia

A P N A  E N D O R S E D  E D U C A T I O N 
A C T I V I T I E S  A N D  R E S O U R C E S
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Spirometry Training Course – National Asthma 
Council Australia

Spirometry Training Update – National Asthma 
Council Australia

Clinical Infection Prevention and Control for All 
Levels of Staff  Working in Health Care Industry 
– Enhance Clinic – Impact Training

AGPAL Training: RACGP 5th edition Standards – 
Australian General Practice Accreditation Limited 

About Giving Vaccine Up-skilling – Remote Area 
Health Corps

General Practice Nurse Orientation; Diabetes 
Education and Management – Country Health SA

Osteoporosis for Practice Nurses – 
Osteoporosis Australia

ASCIA Allergy and Anaphylaxis Active Learning 
Module for Health Professionals – Australasian 
Society of Clinical Immunology and Allergy 

Shared Medical Appointments (workshop for 
practitioners and facilitators) – The Australian 
Society of Lifestyle Medicine

Thunderstorm Asthma – National Asthma 
Council Australia

Standard Mental Health First Aid – Mental Health 
First Aid Australia

Hepatitis C Nursing: Workshop for Primary Health 
Care Nurses – Australasian Society for HIV, Viral 
Hepatitis and Sexual Health Medicine (ASHM)

Wound Care Management for Nurses – Monash 
University

Diabetes Update Day 2017 – Diabetes New 
South Wales

Wellcoaches Core Coach Training program – 
Wellcoaches School of Coaching

Thunderstorm Asthma: How to Identify and 
Manage At-Risk Patients – National Asthma 
Council Australia

The Coaching Mindset in Health – Health 
Coaches International

Laying the Foundations – Murdoch Children’s 
Research Institute

PEDS Foundation (course 1) and PEDS Advanced 

Practice (course 2) – Murdoch Children’s 
Research Institute

Wound Care Workshop – The Wound Guy

Well Women’s Screening Course – Sexual Health 
and Family Planning ACT

Module 1: Introduction to Health Care Homes – 
Australian General Practice Accreditation Limited

Module 2: Engaged Leadership – Australian 
General Practice Accreditation Limited

Module 3: Patient Enrolment and Payment 
Processes – Australian General Practice 
Accreditation Limited

Module 4: Data-driven improvement – Australian 
General Practice Accreditation Limited

Module 5: Team-Based Care – Australian General 
Practice Accreditation Limited

Module 6: Developing and Implementing the 
Shared Care Plan – Australian General Practice 
Accreditation Limited

Module 7: Patient-Team Partnership – Australian 
General Practice Accreditation Limited

Module 8: Comprehensive and Coordinated Care 
– Australian General Practice Accreditation 
Limited

Module 9: Prompt Access to Care – Australian 
General Practice Accreditation Limited

Module 10: Population Management – Australian 
General Practice Accreditation Limited

Drug and Alcohol Treatment Capacity Building for 
Primary Care Providers – University of Newcastle/ 
HNE Primary Health Network (PHN)

Level 1 Foundations of Wellness Coaching – 
Wellness Coaching Australia

Health Coaching – Health Coaches International

Osteoporosis Back to Basics – Med Ed Matters

Module 1: Paediatric Nutrition for Life – Dietitians 
Association of Australia (in partnership 
with ChildD)

Exercise is Medicine (EIM) – Exercise & Sports 
Science Australia (ESSA)

Food as Medicine – Monash University



APNA Online Learning continues to provide Australian 
primary health care nurses with current, evidence-
based, high quality education. It is designed to support 
and enhance clinical practice, inspire leadership across 
nursing fi elds, enable APNA to partner and collaborate 
with leading health organisations in the development 
and delivery of education, and provide nurses with 
access to high quality patient resources.

The online learning format gives primary health care 
nurses the fl exibility to undertake their professional 
development and obtain CPD hours at their own pace, 
at work or at home.

At the end of 2017, there were 8,954 users signed up 
to APNA Online Learning. The 180+ modules available 
on APNA’s dedicated online learning website provide 
access to more than 200 hours of evidence-based, 
comprehensive, relevant and high quality education.

The fi ve most popular courses are:

 • Cardiovascular Disease Risk: Assessment and 
Management

 • Infl uenza Prevention

 • An Orientation for Nurses New to General Practice

 • Solar Damage, Prevention and Screening

 • Pertussis

New and updated APNA 
Online Learning in 2017
Haemochromatosis for Nurses

This course has been developed to provide an 
understanding of haemochromatosis, its symptoms, 
diagnosis, and management.

APNA ONLINE 
LEARNING

E D U C A T I O N

8,954
NEW USERS IN 

2017

After completing this 
module you will be:

 • confi dent in 
recognising the 
symptoms and 
signs of 
Haemochromatosis, 
and refer for further 
investigation,

 • confi dent in supporting 
and educating the patient 
and their family on how to manage 
their condition,

 • able to safely perform a venesection when ordered 
by a medical practitioner, and

 • aware of the Haemochromatosis Australia information 
line for further support and information.

The educational activity has been developed by 
Haemochromatosis Australia Inc for APNA.

General Practice Financing

This online learning program has been designed 
to provide you with an understanding of general 
practice fi nancing mechanisms.

This course looks at: Australian general practice funding, 
provides an introduction to the fi nancing of health care, 
funding mechanisms, changes to fi nancing in Australia 
and funding for practice nurses.

Diabetes Management in the Primary Care 
Setting Unit 1: Introduction to Diabetes

This course has been designed for those who have 
identifi ed a need to update or increase their diabetes 
and diabetes management knowledge.
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 180+
MODULES AVAILABLE

Unit 1 will provide nurses with a basic understanding 
of the disease and its impact on the individual and 
the broader community.

This unit will provide the minimum diabetes specifi c 
knowledge needed to support provision of quality 
care to the person with diabetes and their families 
and carers.

Diabetes Management in the Primary Care Setting 
Unit 2: Supporting People Living with Diabetes

Unit 2 – Supporting People Living with Diabetes has 
been designed to draw on the knowledge identifi ed 
in Unit 1 – Introduction to Diabetes.

Unit 2 contains more detailed information required 
to adapt a care plan and management of individual 
person’s requirements and covers the following areas:

 • Children and Adolescents,

 • Pregnancy and Diabetes,

 • Diabetes in Older Australians,

 • Indigenous Australians,

 • Diabetes in Culturally and Linguistically Diverse 
Groups,

 • Support Services and Self-
Management, and

 • Psyco-social Management 
and Depression.

Immunisation in the 
General Practice Setting

Immunisation in the General 
Practice Setting is an online 
learning program based on 
the clinical recommendations 
and information contained 
within the Australian Immunisation 
Handbook 10th Edition. This program is 
suitable for primary health care nurses in the 
general practice setting who are keen to update their 
immunisation knowledge. The course is made up of 
fi ve modules as well as an additional module specifi c 
to your state or territory. The modules are an enjoyable 
way to learn, and provide useful links to other sources 
of information. Each module will take approximately 
two hours to complete.

Immunisation in the 
General Practice 
Setting was 
reviewed and 
updated in 
2017 by nurse 
consultant 
Dallas Allin.

This course does 
not enable a 
practice nurse to 
become an accredited 
immuniser.

Infl uenza Prevention

This online learning course has been designed to 
provide nurses with concise, practice-based information 
to support the administration of infl uenza vaccines 
to individuals greater than six months of age.

By increasing vaccination rates, this program aims to 
reduce the burden of infl uenza in the community. The 
program is an interactive, 1.5 hour course and is ideally 
suited to nurses wishing to update their immunisation 
knowledge in preparation for the next infl uenza season.

The information contained in this course is aligned with 
recommendations in the Australian Immunisation 

Handbook 10th Edition.

National Bowel Cancer Screening 
Program

This course provides primary health 
care nurses with an understanding of 
the risk factors and symptoms of bowel 
cancer, diff erent screening tests for 
bowel cancer, features of the National 

Bowel Cancer Screening Program 
(NBCSP) and duty of care associated with 

the management of NBCSP participants.

This course was updated in 2017 with funding 
from the Australian Government Department of Health.

Obesity Management

This course has been developed to provide the learner 
with an understanding of the risks presented by obesity, 
how it is managed as well as good practice when 
communicating about and treating obesity.

200+
HOURS OF

EDUCATION
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Palliative Care

This interactive online learning course has been 
designed to provide primary health care nurses 
working in a general practice setting with information 
and knowledge in understanding a palliative approach, 
practical strategies for implementing a palliative 
approach within a general practice and identifying 
where a palliative approach fi ts within the Advance 
Nursing Competencies.

Pertussis

Pertussis is an extremely contagious respiratory 
infection. Increasing vaccination coverage has 
dramatically reduced the incidence of whooping cough 
among Australian children. However, it remains a highly 
infectious and dangerous disease. In a household 
where someone has whooping cough, an estimated 
80-90% of the unimmunised contacts of that person 
will acquire the disease.

This course has been designed to provide nurses with 
an understanding of pertussis in Australia. It looks at 
immunisation rates, symptoms, preventing pertussis 
using various strategies, incentives and delivering 
immunisation services.

Scope of Practice

This online learning program has been designed to 
provide you with an understanding of the scope of 
practice of the nursing profession and individual nurses 
working in the general practice setting. The module 
is designed for registered nurses, practice managers 
and general practitioners. Additional reading has 
been included in this module to give you a more 
in-depth knowledge of the subject. It is strongly 
recommended that you spend additional time 
consulting the recommended readings.

E D U C A T I O N

APNA ONLINE 
LEARNING
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Conference recordings – State of the Art
 • Australia’s First Small Business and Family 

Enterprise Ombudsman

 • Australian National Breastfeeding Strategy 2017 
and Beyond

 • Digital Health

 • Health Assessments That Really Make A 
Diff erence

 • Health Care Homes and the Impact on the Role 
of the Nurse in Primary Health Care

 • Healthy Weight Matters Developing Models of 
Care to Address Obesity in Our Communities

 • Heart Health Life After A Heart Attack

 • Hot on Health Embracing Technology and Social 
Media to Promote Primary Health Care

 • Humour Australia Keynote

 • Implementing an Electronic Medication 
Assessment Tool Within the Detention Setting

 • Improving Competence and Confi dence in 
Providing Care for Mothers and Infants

 • Initiating Palliative Care and Advance Care 
Planning Workshop

 • Lifestyle Risk Communication by Nurses in 
Primary Care an Integrative Review

 • Living with COPD The Frequent Attenders 
Perspectives

 • Management of Obesity and Health Literacy in 
General Practice

 • More than a Gut Feeling: Why Breakfast Matters 
for Health

 • Person Centred Care Planning

 • Practice Nurse Led Innovations to Improve 
Integration for Patients with Complex, Chronic 
Conditions

 • Practice Support Plans, Data Extraction and 
Analysis to Increase Nurse Participation in 
General Practice Setting

 • Preventing Child Obesity in Primary Care the 
Growing Healthy App

 • Providing State of the Art Child Health Services 
to Parents Through Social Media

 • Putting the Health in Healthcare the Role of 
Primary Care Nurses in Health Promotion

 • Randomised Controlled Trial SMS and Calendar 
Reminders to Promote Infant Immunisation 
Timeliness

 • Realising Nurses’ Contribution to the Art and 
Science of Healthcare

 • Supporting Nurses in Primary Care to Manage 
Excess Weight in Children

 • The First Six Months

 • The Future of Aged Care, Change and Reforms

 • The Power of A Conversation

 • Using Data to Inform Quality Improvement 
Activity in General Practice

 • What’s New in Wound Care
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E D U C A T I O N

FACE TO FACE
EDUCATION
This year APNA was proud to have brought our 
outstanding educational workshops to nurses 
across the country to all capital cities as well 
as regional locations such as Albany in Western 
Australia and Taree in New South Wales. 
The Foundations of General Practice Nursing 
workshops and the Contemporary Chronic 
Disease Management workshops saw over 
1,100 nurses come through the doors in 2017.

The two-day workshops, which are developed 
and delivered by experienced nurses and 
nurse-educators, provided an overview of the 
knowledge and key skills required by nurses in 
various roles in the primary health care sector. 

Overall, most participants gave APNA good 
reviews on the content of the workshops, 
and were excited to head back to their practices 
and implement what they had learnt. We saw 
networking and learning aplenty with the 
workshops providing an excellent opportunity 
for primary health care nurses to meet and 
exchange experiences.

In 2017, APNA ran 19 Foundations of General Practice 
Nursing workshops around Australia. Feedback from the 
2016 workshops saw minor iterations to the 2017 content, 
with the main change being the increase of time allocated 
for the clinical topics of the program.

In total, the Foundations workshops attracted 542 nurses 
new to general practice, as well as those who has been 
in the fi eld for several years who attended for an update. 
All nurses had a great deal of diverse experience, which 
was shared and exchanged across the two-day workshops. 

Seven workshop locations were outside of capital cities, 
with some support from local Primary Health Networks. 
This provided a great opportunity for Primary Health 
Network staff  to address the nurses on work they are 
doing to support nurses in general practice. Australian 
Health Practitioner Regulation Agency and Australian 
Digital Health Agency also provided speakers for two of 
the seven topics at most of the workshops, with nurses 
commenting how worthwhile it was to hear from experts 
in these fi elds.

Nurses commented that the main reason to attend the 
workshops was to expand on their general knowledge 

 542
ATTENDEES ACROSS
9 WORKSHOPS

 70%
OF NURSES AGREED THEY 
RECEIVED THE OVERVIEW 

THEY WERE AFTER.

 70%
OF NURSES STRONGLY AGREED, 

AND 20% AGREED, THAT THE 
WORKSHOP MET THEIR NEEDS, 

WAS RELEVANT AND WAS 
VALUE FOR MONEY.  

OVERALL, 90% OF FEEDBACK 
WAS POSITIVE, WITH MANY 
NURSES INDICATING THEY 
WOULD RECOMMEND THE 

WORKSHOP TO A FRIEND OR 
COLLEAGUE.

Foundations of General Practice Nursing

FACE TO FACE
EDUCATION
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and capabilities of their daily practice, with most 
nurses agreeing they received the information 
they were seeking. The nurses enjoyed the 
networking aspects of the workshop, and felt 
there was a sense of community amongst their 
peers, educators and organisers, with many 
expressing their desire for ongoing education 
and engagement with their colleagues in 
attendance and with APNA. 

Speakers from all workshops were very well 
received, with most attaining a very good to 
excellent score on the post-workshop surveys. 
Attendees commented that the workshops 
were engaging, had a high standard, and were 
packed with relevant information and zest 
for their profession. Overall, feedback was 
tremendously positive, with many nurses 
indicating they would recommend the 
workshop to a friend or colleague.

As part of the Nursing in Primary Health Care 
program in 2017 APNA delivered 18 face-to-face 

Contemporary Chronic Disease Management 
workshops, in all areas of the country—from capital 
cities to rural and remote areas. Through these 
workshops we were able to speak to a variety of nurses 
in diff erent areas of primary health care, who indicated 
this education was perfect for gaining an in-depth look 
at Contemporary Chronic Disease Management with 
a case study based approach. 

Across the two days of learning, four educational topics 
were provided to almost 600 nurses throughout the 
year—wound care, mental health, health coaching and 
spirometry. Attendees shared their thoughts after the 
workshops and observed that the topics were very in 
depth and improved their knowledge and skills. Post-
workshop surveys were also completed, which showed 
the topics rated as performing well or performing very 
well overall, particularly as related to workshop value for 
money, and the degree to which workshop content 
improved participant knowledge, skills and confi dence 
related to chronic disease management. 

 70% 
EXTREMELY SATISFIED 
WITH THE SPEAKERS

 20% 
VERY SATISFIED WITH 

THE SPEAKERS

 569
ATTENDEES ACROSS

18 WORKSHOPS

76% SAID THEY FOUND THE 
CURRICULUM RELEVANT, AND 

THAT IT INCREASED THEIR 
KNOWLEDGE AND SKILLS

Contemporary Chronic Disease Management is 
being developed and implemented with funding 
by the Australian Government Department of 
Health as part of the Nursing in Primary Health 
Care Program.

Contemporary Chronic Disease Management
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E D U C A T I O N

Margo Asimus leading the discussion on wound management 

in Tamworth

Ros Rolleston at our workshop in Canberra

Partnering with local Primary Health Networks and 
running workshops in rural and remote areas helped 
nurses have access to free or discounted education 
close to home. 

These workshops receive funding from the Australian 
Government Department of Health under the Nursing 
in Primary Health Care Program 2015–2018. 

What our nurses had 
to say in 2017:

“Thank you for this wonderful experience. This 
workshop met all learning objectives and my 
personal needs to work in this new environment as 
a general practise nurse. Each presenter brought 
passion and knowledge to each subject.”

“Just want to say thank you for a very relevant and very 
good couple of days. I would recommend this two-day 
workshop to my colleagues.”

“I would just like to thank everyone that contributed to 
the workshop. It’s not every day you feel as if you have 
gained knowledge from a workshop and I feel as if every 
aspect of the two days will be helpful in my future as 
a general practice nurse...Thank you so much for the 
confi dence you have given me…”

FACE TO FACE
EDUCATION
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APNA NURSE
AWARDS

O U R  P E O P L E

Eight nurses were recognised in APNA 
Nurse Awards in 2017.

The APNA Nurse Awards is a platform to showcase the 
work of outstanding primary health care nurses. The 
awards pay tribute to the nurses who are transforming 
care, who lead and inspire their colleagues, and who 
stand out in their day-to-day work. 

Awards include the President’s Award for a nurse who 
has left a legacy through their work in primary health 
care nursing, the Rosemary Bryant Award for a nurse 
who has made a long-term contribution through their 
work in primary health care nursing, the APNA Nurse 
of the Year, and APNA Recently Graduated Nurse of 
the Year.

Finalists and award recipients were presented their 
awards by the Minister for Indigenous Aff airs and 
Minister for Aged Care Ken Wyatt, APNA President 
Karen Booth, and APNA Patron Rosemary Bryant in 
a ceremony held during APNA’s National Conference 
State of the Art in May 2017.

Nurse of the Year – 
Holly Robinson
Holly Robinson from The Oaks in Macarthur, New South 
Wales was awarded APNA Nurse of the Year in 2017.

Holly performs the dual role of registered nurse and 
practice manager at Macarthur General Practice. 
Passionate about education, Holly runs nurse clinics 
for patients with a focus on chronic disease, health 
assessment and preventive health, as well as mentoring 
undergraduate and graduate nurses and doctors as 
they transition to work.

Holly sits on various local health board committees that 
aim to improve the health of patients, particularly those 
at high risk, in the areas of mental health 
and chronic disease. 

Holly followed in the footsteps 
of her aunt Sheila, who is a 
nurse at Campbelltown 
Private Hospital, when she 
decided to enter the 
profession, and she has 
no regrets.

At the awards she told Primary Times, “It’s an interesting 
career for people. People think it’s just working in 
a hospital but nursing is so much more. We, as nurses 
in general practice, get to infl uence so much change in 
the community. We are not defi ned by a particular area. 
We see people of all ages, presentations and illnesses.

“It’s great to utilise knowledge and skills to educate 
myself to provide health care in public health settings. 
We strive to get our patients accountable for 
their health care.”

Recently Graduated 
Nurse of the Year 
– Maria Young
Maria Young from Mungindi on the 
border of Queensland and New South 
Wales was awarded APNA Recently 
Graduated Nurse of the Year in 2017.

Maria commenced as a graduate nurse in 
2016, and works at the remote Mungindi 
Multi-Purpose Health Service on the Queensland 
and New South Wales border, in the medical practice, 
community health, aged care and in the hospital.

In the short time she has been working as a registered 
nurse, Maria has completed her immunisation 
endorsement and has commenced a graduate 
diploma in rural and remote health.

Maria recently worked with two colleagues to set up 
a health stall for the local show, and demonstrates 
enthusiasm about how this initiative will benefi t her 
community in the long term.

Maria provides a voice for her patients and community, 
and shows incredible strength in leadership as a junior 
registered nurse. 

APNA is a strong advocate for supporting and 
empowering nurses new to primary health 

care. Fostering the careers of graduate 
nurses is crucial at a time where 

recruitment and retention of nurses 
in primary and acute settings is key 
to avoiding the predicted shortage 
of 85,000 nurses by 2025.

Continued next page

APNA NURSE
AWARDS
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Jane has also contributed significantly to APNA, 
serving as a board member between 2011 and 
2014 and has been on numerous committees. 
She has also undertaken various projects as a 
nurse representative. 

Jane is described by her colleagues as great fun 
to work with and to have on your team; she has 
a terrific sense of humour, is one of the kindest 
people you can meet and is always helping 
others – both professionally and personally.

President’s Award – 
Samantha Moses 

Victorian nurse Samantha Moses has been 
acknowledged for the legacy she has made to 
primary health care nursing, receiving the  
APNA President’s Award.

Samantha Moses is a seasoned registered 
nurse, who is also the founder and inaugural 
president of APNA. Seeing a gap in professional 
support and advocacy for nurses working in 
general practice in the late 1990s and early 
2000s, Samantha identified the need for nurses 

O U R  P E O P L E

Rosemary Bryant Award 
– Jane Butcher

The Rosemary Bryant Award was established to 
acknowledge the exemplary and long-term 

contribution of the first Commonwealth Chief 
Nurse, Midwifery Officer and APNA Patron  

Dr Rosemary Bryant towards the nursing 
profession and her dedication and 
advocacy of nurses working in primary 
health care.

Perth nurse Jane Butcher has been 
acknowledged for her substantial long-term 

achievement and contribution to primary 
health care nursing, receiving the Rosemary 

Bryant Award.

From a young age, Jane aspired to be a nurse. She 
did her training in Western Australia and became involved 

and committed to nursing and primary health care when she 
and her husband Michael, a general practitioner, set up a solo 
general practice in Kalbarri, a small coastal town approximately 
600 kilometres north of Perth. 

By 2000 Jane was working for a small practice which was 
bought out by a corporate firm and merged into a new 
purpose-built practice. The general practitioners at this practice 
all enjoyed working with Jane, and had huge respect for her 
knowledge and care of patients. 

Over time, Jane became the senior nurse, and from there 
became more interested and active in supporting general 
practice nurses – including improving pay rates, CPD and 
recognition of the role. 

Jane moved on to roles within the Divisions of General Practice/
Medicare Locals and eventually became the State Program 
Manager for Nursing in General Practice Program, funded by 
the Commonwealth Government.

Jane is known and respected in primary health care at all levels 
from grassroots nurses on the ground in primary health care 
services, to high level Department of Health and other advisory 
committees. Jane is passionate about improving primary health 
care nursing and working towards better health care for the 
community, locally and nationally.

APNA NURSE
AWARDS
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working in general practice to have a dedicated support 
network for this, then unique, area of nursing. She was 
committed to the cause and in her own time with the 
support of colleagues, she advocated and garnered  
support from various individuals and organisations. 

Samantha’s vision was realised after much hard work  
and dedication when the federal government and other  
key nursing bodies provided support to grow APNA into  
the organisation it is today. 

In her own words, Samantha says, “I never dared to dream 
that this would happen.

“Working in an isolated role by myself in a general practice 
made me wonder what on earth everybody else was doing: 
were there other nurses out there like me, were they 
interested in networking with each other, where did they  
get their education, what did they do, and how did they  
find out the things that they needed to find out?

“So it was that thought that came to me, I don’t know  
why or how. What came next was talking to anyone who 
would listen, including local members of Parliament, 
representatives that used to visit the general practice, and 
the Divisions of General Practice back then. They were all  
so supportive in helping me get the questions out to people: 
‘are you a nurse in general practice, do you want to network 
with other nurses, and how about some education?’

“And that expression of interest that went out through  
the ether came back as an overwhelming, screaming yes,  
and from there it snowballed.”

Samantha remains committed to advocating for, and 
advancing the role of, the primary health care nurse  
in Australia.

APNA President’s Award 
Samantha Moses from Mt Eliza, Victoria

Rosemary Bryant Award 
Jane Butcher from Willetton in Perth, Western Australia

APNA Graduate Nurse of the Year 

Winner: Maria Young from Mungindi on the 
Queensland/New South Wales border

Finalist: Robbie Bedbrook from Leichhardt 
in Sydney, New South Wales

Finalist: Jedda Outten from North 
Wollongong, New South Wales

APNA Nurse of the Year

Winner: Holly Robinson from The Oaks 
in Macarthur, New South Wales

Finalist: Kim Rayner from West End in Brisbane, Queensland

Finalist: Joanne Wilson from North Perth, Western Australia
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O U R  P E O P L E 

Board meetings
Board meetings are held six times annually with at least two face-to-face meetings. Board Directors are expected 
to prepare adequately to attend and participate at board and committee meetings. 

Conflicts of interest
Board Directors are expected to avoid any action, position or interest that confl icts or appears to confl ict with the 
interest of the Association. A director who has a material personal interest in a matter relating to the Association’s 
aff airs must notify the board.

APNA Board 2017
The Board is made up of fi ve elected Directors and up to three co-opted Directors.

Melissa Cromarty
Vice President

Kathy GodwinKaren Booth 
President

Holly Ransom Julianne Badenoch Ken Griffi  n Maurice Wrightson Ros Rolleston

Jane Bollen Denise Lyons

BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

Elected Board Members
Karen Booth President
Melissa Cromarty Vice President
Jane Bollen 
Denise Lyons  
Ros Rolleston  
Julianne Badenoch Vice President 
 (term concluded May 2017)
Kathy Godwin (term concluded May 2017)

Co-opted Board Members
Ken Griffi  n
Holly Ransom 
Maurice Wrightson
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COMMITTEES & 
VOLUNTEERS
APNA has a number of advisory committees. Members are encouraged to become part 
of these committees, which gives an opportunity to learn new skills, network with fellow 
health professionals and gain important CPD hours. 

Governance Committee
Melissa Cromarty Co-Chair

Ken Griffi  n Co-Chair

Maurice Wrightson

Julianne Badenoch Chair (to May 2017)

Karen Booth 

Finance, Audit and Risk Management Committee
Maurice Wrightson Chair

Jane Bollen

Ros Rolleston

Karen Booth 

Julianne Badenoch (to May 2017)

Ken Griffi  n (to May 2017)

Editorial Advisory Committee 
Kathy Godwin 

Elizabeth Halcomb

Anne Matyear

Jacqui Young
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PARTNERS
APNA acknowledges the companies that have partnered with APNA and in doing so have made a commitment 
to the development of primary health care nursing. The support of these partners signifi cantly enhances APNA’s 
ability to deliver benefi ts to members.

O U R  P E O P L E 

Platinum Partner

Seqirus™, a CSL company, is a leading provider of 
essential vaccines, pharmaceuticals and diagnostic 
reagents. They have served Australia’s healthcare needs 
for over a century and today we operate Australia’s 
only onshore manufacturing facility for seasonal and 
pandemic infl uenza vaccine. Seqirus produces a range 
of unique medicines in the National Interest, and also 
in-licenses a broad range of paediatric and adult 
vaccines and specialty pharmaceutical products.

Community Immunity is an online immunisation toolkit 
proudly provided by Seqirus and designed for you as 
a nurse in primary health care to maximise adult 
immunisation in your clinic. Over 2000 nurses have 
now registered on the Community Immunity website 
www.communityimmunity.com.au. As a Platinum 
Partner they have made a signifi cant commitment 
to APNA’s vision.

Organisation Partner

APNA’s relationship with Independent Practitioner 
Network (IPN) continues to grow. Through their support 
around 500 nurse employees working with IPN across 
Australia have membership with APNA. IPN also 
sponsors nurses to attend APNA’s national conference 
each year.
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The Directors present their report together with the fi nancial statements of Australian Primary Health Care Nurses 
Association Limited for the year ended 31 December 2017 and the auditor’s report thereon.

Board of Directors
The following Directors of the company held offi  ce at any time during the year ended 31 December 2017. 

Name and 
qualifi cations

Experience and special responsibilities BMA Positions 
held

Ms Karen Booth
RN, A & E 
Nursing Cert, 
BHScN, GAICD

Karen has worked as a primary health care nurse and 
manager since 1998. Her roles include acute clinical care, 
preventative health and chronic disease management, 
care coordination, data management, accreditation, 
administration, staff  training and mentoring. Karen is an 
accredited immunisation provider and regularly presents 
educational sessions for key nursing and Primary Heath 
Network groups. Karen is a member of the National 
Immunisation Committee and the Committee for Safety 
of Vaccines (ministerial appointment) and Primary Health 
Care Advisory Group (ministerial appointment), National 
Nursing and Midwifery Education Advisory Network. 
Karen is a graduate of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors.

7/8 Director since 
May 2009

APNA President

Governance 
Committee member

Ms Melissa 
Cromarty
RN, GCert 
Nursing Practice 
(Emerg), Cert 
IV TAA, Immu-
nisation Cert, 
Well Women’s 
Screening Cert

Melissa has worked in nursing for the majority of her 
career, with qualifi cations and experience in emergency 
and intensive care and general practice. Melissa’s 
passions include promoting the positive impact 
of nurses in improving health outcomes and the 
important role they play in chronic disease management 
and preventative health. She also has a thorough 
understanding of the challenges faced by primary health 
care nurses in both urban and rural settings. Currently 
Melissa is the team leader with the New England and 
Central Coast Primary Health Network and is involved 
in the support and evaluation of primary care. 

8/8 Director since 
May 2016

APNA Vice President

Governance 
committee: Co-Chair

Mr Maurice 
Wrightson
Dip Pro Mgt,
B. Bus, GAICD, 
AFAIM,

Maurice held senior executive positions within Australia 
Post, at both a State and National level for over 
15 years. During this time he successfully applied 
a broad range of leadership and change management 
skills to a variety of senior positions. He particularly 
utilised his strengths in change management, people 
development and profi t centre management. Maurice 
is a Graduate of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors. He has 20 years’ experience as a Director 
and over 15 years’ experience as a Board Chairman. 
He has a keen interest in governance, strategy 
development and stakeholder management.

8/8 Director since 
February 2007

FARM Committee: 
Chair

Governance 
Committee member

Mr Ken Griffi  n
BComms

Ken has more than 20 years’ marketing, communications 
and government aff airs experience in the health care, 
not-for-profi t and pharmaceutical sectors. He has held 
multiple leadership roles and directed high-profi le 
campaigns for patient groups, industry organisations 
and pharmaceutical companies.  Ken brings signifi cant 
strategic capability to APNA and is a determined and 
passionate supporter of primary health care nursing.

8/8 Director since 
March 2013

Governance 
committee: Co-Chair 
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Ms Jane Bollen
RN Cert(Crit-
Care) CertIVTAE 
DipAcct GAICD 

Jane is an Adelaide based primary care registered nurse, 
passionate about improving outcomes for people with 
chronic conditions through patient-centred care planning 
and data driven improvement. Jane works in a busy 
general practice in Adelaide delivering care to patients. 
She also works for BMP Healthcare Consulting, 
supporting general practice teams deliver safe and 
eff ective care, reviewing systems for chronic conditions 
and helping clinicians understand their data to improve 
the health of their practice population and business 
sustainability. On a background of acute care nursing 
followed by primary care for the last nine years Jane 
has completed a Diploma of Accounting and is a recent 
graduate of Australian Institute of Company Directors. 
Jane has represented APNA in the Health Care Homes 
working group, as well as working alongside international 
and national health practitioners in the Health Care 
Homes ‘Train the Trainer’ workshops. Jane has 
represented APNA on the My Health Record Expansion 
steering group and the Autism Spectrum Diagnosis 
Guidelines Steering Group.

8/8 Director since 
May 2016

FARM Committee 
member

Ms Holly 
Ransom
LLB & BEcon

Holly is the CEO of Emergent, a company specialising 
in the development of high performing intergenerational 
workforces, leadership and social outcomes. Holly 
generates innovative solutions to complex multi-
stakeholder problems for corporations, governments 
and non-profi t organisations, and is coach and 
professional mentor to leaders around the world. Holly 
holds a Law degree and Bachelor of Economics. In 2012 
she was the youngest person to be named in Australia’s 
100 Most Infl uential Women. An accomplished global 
keynote speaker, Holly has presented across six 
continents, including delivering a Peace Charter to the 
Dalai Lama. She is also a popular contributor to the 
Financial Review, Huffi  ngton Post, ABC’s Q&A, Reuters, 
Bloomberg Asia, Channel 7 News, and Channel 10’s 
The Project. In 2016 Holly was appointed to Co-Chair 
of the United Nations Global Coalition of Young 
Women Entrepreneurs.

7/8 Director since 
January 2017

Ms Ros 
Rolleston
MN, BHSc, ICNC, 
Cert IV TAE, Imm 
Cert, WWS cert.

Ros is a hospital trained registered nurse and has 
worked in general practice since 2009 after specialising 
in Emergency Department then Intensive Care Unit prior 
to moving to primary health care in 2001. Ros is acutely 
aware of the challenges faced by general practice 
and other primary health care nurses including 
acknowledgement as core members of the 
interprofessional team, working conditions and 
educational needs. Ros also works as an undergraduate 
nursing tutor at University of Wollongong and as an 
educator in primary health care. Ros has worked on 
expert reference groups including with the Australian 
College of Mental Health Nurses and is a member of 
the Australian College of Nursing Primary Health Care 
Communities of Interest and the Australian College of 
Nursing Chronic Disease chapter. Ros completed the 
company director's course with the Australian Institute 
of Company Directors in 2013 during her directorship 
at a regional Medicare Local and is also a director with 
the Primary Care Diabetes Society of Australia.

5/5 Director since 
May 2017

FARM Committee 
member
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Ms Denise Lyons
RN, NP, BSc 
(Nurs), MEdu 
(Health Prom), 
MNurs (Nurse 
Practitioner), Cert 
IV TAA, ImmCert, 
Well Women’s 
Screening Cert 

Denise has been a registered nurse for more than 
30 years and gained endorsement as a nurse 
practitioner fi ve years ago. She has worked in a variety 
of primary health care environments and has held 
clinical, managerial, educational, advisory, and clinical 
governance roles. As a nurse practitioner currently 
working in the general practice environment and as 
a clinical editor developing health pathways, Denise 
has continued to embrace teaching and learning 
opportunities. She has a passion for patient education 
and empowerment and recognises the importance of 
high performing teams in improving health outcomes. 
Denise is an appointed member of the Clinical Council 
at Hunter New England Central Coast Primary Health 
Network and a member of the Nurse Insight Group 
and Choosing Wisely working party at NPS Medicinewise. 

5/5 Director since 
May 2017

Ms Kathy 
Godwin
RN, A&E Cert, 
BHSc (Nurs), Grad 
Cert Nurs, Grad 
Cert CDSM, Cert 
IV TAE, MNurs 
Research, MAICD

Kathy has specialist expertise in general practice, 
emergency, critical care in rural and urban areas, and 
academia. She has worked passionately and tirelessly 
in primary health care for more than 14 years with 
responsibilities as clinical nurse manager in strategic, 
clinical and business development. Having successfully 
undertaken a strategic and business development role 
in general practice, Kathy has demonstrated strong 
independent thought and judgment; the desire to learn 
and expand professional limitations and collaboration 
with major stakeholders and partners to meet common 
goals. Kathy works in several representative roles 
including DOH NMEAN Mental Health Working Group, 
Department of Veterans' Aff airs (DVA) Health Forum, 
DVA Coordinated Veterans' Care Working Group and 
Kidney Health Australia, and locally supporting her 
Primary Health Network and two APNA Nurse Networks.

3/3 Director since 
May 2015

Chair Editorial 
Committee and 
Deputy Chair EPDAC 
committee

Resigned May 2017

Ms Julianne 
Badenoch
RN, 
RM,BNP,GAICD

Julianne is a registered nurse and midwife, with over 
20 years’ experience as a primary health care nurse 
in rural Australia. Julianne has a strong interest in 
governance, is a graduate of the Australian Institute 
of Company Directors and was APNA President from 
2010-2014. In November 2013, Julianne was appointed 
to the Board of the National Asthma Council. Julianne is 
immediate past Chair and is a council member of 
Coalition of National Nursing and Midwifery 
Organisations. As a clinical reference lead with the 
Australian Digital Health Agency. Julianne is committed to 
the ongoing safe and quality development, adoption and 
utility of Australia’s national digital health record.

3/3 Director since 2004

APNA Vice President

Chair-Governance 
and Conference 
Committee

Resigned May 2017

Corporate Governance Statement

The Australian Primary Health Care Nurses Association 
(APNA) Company Limited by guarantee is registered 
under the Company Act (2001). Ultimate responsibility 
for the governance of the company rests with the Board 
of Directors. Directors are guided through the 
Corporate Governance Charter (amended October 
2017) that provides a framework of reference. The 

Charter aims to provide an overview of the main 
responsibilities and duties undertaken by the Board 
of Directors in fulfi lling their roles in the best interests 
of APNA.

Role of the Board

The Board’s primary function is to establish and 
maintain governance arrangements in accordance with 
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its Constitution, to ensure APNA can continue to achieve 
its strategic directions, and deliver on its operational 
goals. The Board of Directors also monitor performance 
in areas of external and internal accountability, and 
ensure legislative requirements are met. The Board 
exercises fi duciary and other duties with due diligence 
and care in an environment of openness and honesty.

Specifi c responsibilities of the Board

Duties and responsibilities of Directors are as follows;

 • Develop and implement eff ective corporate 
governance policies.

 • Develop and review APNA’s strategic framework as 
defi ned in the strategic plan, including developing 
and reviewing APNA mission, vision, goals and values.

 • Review and endorse resulting business plans and 
budgets.

 • Defi ne and manage key stakeholder relationships; 
Establish systems to enable stakeholder views to be 
expressed, considered and refl ected in policy-making; 
Manage and resolve confl icting stakeholder needs.

 • Ensure business and compliance risks have been 
identifi ed and an appropriate framework has been 
established to manage risks.

 • Review, approve and monitor company policies.

 • Approve and monitor major capital expenditure 
items.

 • Ensure appropriate ethical standards are maintained.

 • Ensure there is a process for maintaining the integrity 
of internal controls, and fi nancial and management 
information systems.

 • Appoint, support, evaluate and reward the CEO and 
have in place an executive succession plan.

• Ensure robust succession planning.

 • Continually evaluate and improve Board eff ectiveness.

Responsibilities of the CEO

The CEO is allocated the appropriate authority, 
accountability and responsibility to achieve the 
desired outcomes that have been specifi ed. The 
CEO has day-to-day responsibility for the management 
of the operations of APNA—implementing strategies 
and policies approved by the Board and has a role 
in contributing meaningfully towards that strategy. 

Board of Directors

All members of the Board of Directors are independent, 
non-executive Directors. The Constitution of the 
company specifi es: 

The Board has between fi ve to ten Board members, 
of whom fi ve to seven are elected Directors and up 
to three are co-opted Directors.

Employees of APNA are not eligible to be elected 
as Directors.

Only Full Members of the company for at least six 
months immediately prior to the closing date for 
nomination are eligible to be elected as Directors.

Upon election to the Board of APNA Ltd, all Directors 
are provided with an induction kit and over time will be 
off ered access to appropriate training in Corporate 
Governance. Additionally, Board training is provided 
as appropriate alongside face-to-face meetings. 

All Directors are encouraged to attend training sessions 
and programs, workshops, and conferences off ered by 
APNA. All Directors are obliged to keep up-to-date with 
knowledge about the primary health care nursing 
profession and the environment in which APNA 
operates. In order to improve Board performance, 
Directors are required to participate in evaluation 
processes. The Board values diversity and ensures time 
is taken to allow full airing of all points of view. Whilst 
diversity is encouraged and managed, the Board acts 
as a whole.

Risk Management

The Board oversees the establishment, implementation 
and regular review of the risk management framework 
of the company. The Finance, Audit, and Risk 
Management Committee, ensures the identifi cation 
and evaluation of key risks threatening achievement of 
APNA objectives. The Committee monitors, reports on, 
and makes recommendations to the Board concerning 
areas of risk to the operations, fi nancial management, 
fi nancial reporting, internal control systems, accounting 
policy and practice. The Committee also briefs and 
responds to APNA’s Finance Manager and Auditor.

Board Code of Conduct

APNA Board commits itself to ethical, business-like, 
and lawful behaviour. This includes proper use of 
authority and appropriate decorum when acting as 
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Directors. All Directors, in consenting to act as a 
Director of APNA, are bound by the Code of Conduct 
they are asked to sign on appointment to the Board 
and adhere to it throughout their term(s). The Code 
provides a minimum standard and tangible evidence 
of commitment to achieving the expectations of the 
community and stakeholders.

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the company during the 
year were to support a healthy Australia through 
best practice primary health care nursing.

Operating Results

The net surplus of APNA for the year ended 31 
December 2017 was $73,806 compared to a net 
surplus of $304,402 in the 2016 year.

Discussion and analysis of the fi nancial 
results for 2017

Income Statement

Revenue

Overall revenue for the calendar year of $4.9 million 
was primarily derived from income through government 
and other party funded projects, member subscriptions, 

professional services for nurses, and income received 
for the annual national APNA conference.

The highest income category (62% of total income) 
was grant income, representing grant funds received 
from government and other third parties ($3.0 million). 
During 2017 APNA undertook the following projects:

1. The Nursing in Primary Health Care program (NiPHC) 
was funded by Department of Health to support 
two health workforce policy goals: 1) build capacity 
among primary health care nursing workforce by 
promoting the employment of, and providing support 
to, nurses working in primary health care setting; and 
2) undertake reform and innovation in the primary 
health care nursing workforce, to better address the 
primary health care needs of Australian communities. 
The NiPHC program aims to build capacity amongst 
the primary health care nursing workforce by:

 • Improving employment opportunities, recruitment 
and retention of nurses in primary health care 
settings.

 • Modelling the delivery of innovative, eff ective clinical 
care by nurses in primary health care settings.

 • Ensuring that nurses working in primary health care 
settings have the knowledge and skills to deliver best 
practice clinical services in priority areas of primary 
health care.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
For the year ended 31 December 2017

2017 REVENUE DISTRIBUTION

62% 
GRANT INCOME

12% 
NATIONAL CONFERENCE 
& AWARD INCOME

5% 
PROFESSIONAL 
SERVICES INCOME

3% 
MEDIA & ADVERTISING 
INCOME

1% 
INTEREST
INCOME

16% 
MEMBERSHIP INCOME

1% 
OTHER INCOME
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 • The project is being delivered over the three-year 
period of September 2015 to June 2018

2. The Supporting GPs and Practice Nurses in the Timely 
Diagnosis of Dementia program was funded by 
Alzheimer Australia to undertake a comprehensive, 
independent evaluation of the impacts and outcomes 
of the project for health care professions and 
consumers. APNA continues to support primary 
health care nurses by providing workshops and 
online learning on the timely diagnosis of dementia. 
The project commenced on July 2015 and concluded 
on 30 June 2017.

3. The National Bowel Cancer Screening program was 
funded by the Australian Government Department 
of Health and is run in partnership with Cancer 
Council Western Australia. This project aims to 
increase confi dence and competency of primary 
health care nurses to support bowel cancer 
screening activities; and improve resources, 
information and training for nurses working in 
general practice settings. The project was initiated 
in November 2016 and concluded in June 2017. 
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2017 EXPENSE DISTRIBUTION

30% 
OTHER GRANT 
EXPENSE

9% 
NATIONAL 
CONFERENCE & 
AWARD EXPENSE

4% 
PROFESSIONAL 
SERVICES EXPENSE

1% 
DEPRECIATION EXPENSE

1% 
MEDIA & 
ADVERTISING 
EXPENSE

1% 
FINANCE 
EXPENSE

41% 
EMPLOYEE 
EXPENSE

10% 
ADMINISTRATION 
EXPENSE

3% 
MARKETING 
EXPENSE

APNA continued to expand its membership and had 
increased its paid members by 13.5% compared to 
the previous year. Membership income for the year 
was $772,380.

APNA’s 2017 national conference State of the Art was 
held successfully in May 2017. The national conference 
income of $591,142 represents 14% of total revenue 
for 2017. APNA successfully attracted members, 
non-members and sponsors to the event.

APNA continued to focus on providing enhanced 
support for the professional development of 
members, through the delivery of both online 
and face-to-face education. During the year 
APNA continued to review and update existing 
online courses to ensure course content is relevant 
to the current context. APNA also introduced new 
courses with the assistance of sponsors. Out of the 
total revenue, 5% was derived through the delivery 
of online and face-to-face education. 
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Expenses

Overall expenses for the calendar year were 
$4.8 million; primarily comprised of employee 
expenses, other grant expenses, administration 
expenses, and APNA national conference expenses.

The highest expense category (41% of total expenses) 
was employee expenses ($2.0 million). Employee 
expenses increased 3% on the previous year 
mainly due to CPI. 

Grant expenses incurred during the year were 
$1,448,006 (30% of total expense). This included 
expenses towards delivering the Nursing in 
Primary Health Care program, Timely Diagnosis 
of Dementia program, and the National Bowel 
Cancer Screening program.

Administration expenses (10% of the total expenses) 
were primarily corporate overheads and expenses 
related to governing the company.

National conference expenses were $430,611 
(9% of total expenses). 

Balance sheet 

APNA’s balance sheet continues to strengthen with net 
assets increasing by $73,806 or 9%, which is directly 
attributable to the positive surplus achieved in 2017.

Cash and cash equivalents as well as fi nancial assets 
were lower compared to prior year by 23%, mainly 
due to low cash balance available on project funds. 
Trade and other receivables are well managed with 
the majority of receivables falling within the 30 days 
collection term. The majority of the outstanding 
revenue was collected during January 2018. 

Intangible asset represents the part payment for 
the development of a new Customer Relationship 
Management system (CRM). The cost of the 
development was fi nanced by Westpac with 
plans to settle within a three year period.

Trade and other payables at year-end has exceeded 
by 19% compared to prior year, which is directly 
attributable to receiving more sponsorship and 

exhibitor income for 2018 national conference well 
in advance. This income is considered as a payable 
until the conference is held in 2018. Grants in advance 
represents funding received for external projects that 
are yet to be spent. These funds are adequate to meet 
project liabilities, with the cash fl ow of projects to be 
managed from the project funding. 

Provisions towards staff  annual leave and long 
service leave are in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards.

Signifi cant Changes

There were no signifi cant changes in the nature of the 
company’s principal activities during the calendar year.

Events Subsequent to Balance Date

No matters have arisen in the interval between end 
of the calendar year and the date of this report which 
are likely, in the opinion of the Directors, to signifi cantly 
aff ect the operations of the company or the results 
of the operations of the company in subsequent 
fi nancial years.

Likely Developments

In the opinion of the Directors there are no likely 
developments that will change the nature of the 
operations of the company.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors 
of the Board.

Karen Booth
President

Maurice Wrightson
Director

Dated 9 April 2018
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We, Ms Karen Booth and Mr Maurice Wrightson, being board members of Australian Primary Health Care Nurses 
Association Company Limited by Guarantee, certify that:

1. The statements attached to this certifi cate give true and fair view of the fi nancial position of Australian Primary 
Health Care Nurses Association Limited as at 31 December 2017 and of its performance for the fi nancial year 
ended on that date;

2. The statements attached to this certifi cate comply with the Corporations Act 2001, the Australian Accounting 
Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements, the Australian Charities and Not-for-profi ts Commission 
Act 2012 and other mandatory professional reporting requirements; and 

3. At the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay 
its debts as and when they fall due.

This statement is made in accordance with a resolution of directors made pursuant to section 295(5) (a) of 
the Corporations Act 2001 and is signed for and on behalf of the Board by:

 

Ms Karen Booth Mr Maurice Wrightson
President Director

Dated 9 April 2018

RESPONSIBLE ENTITIES DECLARATION
For the year ended 31 December 2017
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 Notes 2017 2016
 $  $ 

REVENUE  
Membership income 772,380 725,575

Grant income 2 3,038,728 2,452,810

National conference and award income 591,142 449,186

Professional services income 3 278,870 224,909

Media and advertising income 130,566 167,557

Interest income 28,872 53,835

Other income 84,176 79,465

4,924,734 4,153,337

EXPENSE  

Employee expense  (2,015,945)  (1,963,465)

Other Grant expense  (1,448,006)  (848,366)

National conference and award expense  (430,611)  (340,297)

Professional services expense  (197,732)  (183,096)

Media and advertising expense  (56,768)  (49,897)

Depreciation expense  (42,653)  (6,238)

Finance expense  (24,565)  (11,193)

Marketing expense  (128,608)  (52,802)

Administration expense 4  (506,040)  (393,581)

 (4,850,928)  (3,848,935)

 

 

Current year surplus before income tax 73,806 304,402
 

Income Tax expense  –  – 

  

Current year surplus for the year 73,806 304,402
 

Other comprehensive income –  –

 

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to 
members of the entity 73,806 304,402

The above statement of profi t or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with 
the accompanying notes

STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2017
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 Notes 2017 2016
 $  $ 

Current assets  

Cash and cash equivalents 5 774,569 1,005,249

Trade and other receivables 6 201,178 125,807

Prepayments 7 60,634 52,308

Financial asset 8 1,042,588 1,362,768

Total current assets 2,078,969 2,546,132

Non-current assets  

Property, plant and equipment 9 23,830 35,785

Intangible asset 10 86,484 71,000

Bond 17,525 17,525

Total non-current assets 127,839 124,310

Total assets 2,206,808 2,670,442
Current liability  

Trade and other payables 11 473,721 397,475

Grants in advance 12 552,888 1,237,564

Provisions 13 158,383 126,954

Total current liabilities 1,184,992 1,761,993

Non-current liability  

Financial Liability 106,500 71,000

Provisions 13 17,673 13,612

Total Non-current liabilities 124,173 84,612

Total liabilities 1,309,165 1,846,605

 

Net assets 897,643 823,837

Equity  

Reserves 14 897,643 823,837

Total Equity 897,643 823,837

 

The above statement of fi nancial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
For the year ended 31 December 2017
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Reserves Total Equity

 
$ $

Balance at 1 January 2016  519,435  519,435 
Comprehensive income  
Net surplus for the year  304,402  304,402 
Total Comprehensive Income  304,402  304,402 
Balance at 31 December 2016  823,837  823,837 

 
Balance at 1 January 2017  823,837  823,837 
Comprehensive Income  
Net surplus for the year  73,806  73,806 
Other comprehensive income  
Total comprehensive income  73,806  73,806 
Balance at 31 December 2017  897,643  897,643 

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2017

Notes CY 2017 CY 2016
 $  $ 

Cash fl ow from operating activities  

Receipts from members  715,276  725,575 

Government grants received  2,354,052  2,438,026 

Other receipts  1,065,655  827,016 

Interest received  35,800  53,835 
Payments to suppliers and employees  (4,710,855)  (3,780,304)

Net cash fl ows from operating activities 15 (b) (540,072)  264,148 

 
Cash fl ow from investing activities  
Payments for property, plant and equipment  (46,288) (31,543)
Proceeds from fi nancial assets 355,680 (402,768)
Net cash fl ows from investing activities 309,392 (434,311)

 
Net increase/(decrease) in cash held (230,680) (170,163)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the calendar year  1,005,249  1,175,412 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the calendar year 15(a)  774,569  1,005,249 

The above statement of cash fl ows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2017
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Note 1: Summary of signifi cant accounting policies

Basis of preparation

The fi nancial statements are general purpose fi nancial 
statements that have been prepared in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced 
Disclosure Requirements and Interpretations issued 
by the Australian Accounting Standards Board, the 
Australian Charities and Not-for-profi ts Commission 
Act 2012 and the Corporations Act 2001, as appropriate 
for not-for-profi t oriented entities. The company is 
a not-for-profi t entity for fi nancial reporting purposes 
under Australian Accounting Standards.

The company has adopted all of the new or amended 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by 
the Australian Accounting Standards Board that are 
mandatory for the current reporting period. Material 
accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the 
fi nancial statements are presented below and have 
been consistently applied unless stated otherwise.

The fi nancial statements have been prepared on an 
accruals basis and are based on historic costs, which 
do not take into account changing money values or, 
except where specifi cally stated, current valuations 
of non current assets.

The fi nancial statements were authorised for issue on 
9 April 2018 by the APNA Board.

The following signifi cant accounting policies, which are 
consistent with previous period unless otherwise stated, 
have been adopted in the preparation of the fi nancial 
statement.

a) Income tax

The company does not provide for income tax as 
it is a charitable institution in terms of subsection 
50-5 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997, as 
amended, it is exempt from paying income tax.

b) Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less 
accumulated depreciation. Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the items. Assets purchased for 
consideration greater than $300 are capitalised.

The depreciable amount of all property, plant and 
equipment is depreciated over the useful lives of 
the assets to the company commencing from the 
time the asset is held ready for use. Project assets 

are depreciated over the life of the project using 
the straight line method.

An item of property, plant and equipment is 
derecognised upon disposal or when there is no 
future economic benefi t to the company. Gains 
and losses between the carrying amount and the 
disposal proceeds are taken to profi t or loss.

c) Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired are initially recognised 
at cost. Finite life intangible assets are subsequently 
measured at cost less amortisation and any 
impairment. The method and useful life of intangible 
assets are reviewed annually.

d) Impairment of non-current assets

At the end of each reporting period, the entity 
reviews the carrying value of its tangible assets 
to determine whether there is any indication that 
those assets have been impaired. If such an 
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the 
asset, being the higher of the assets fair value less 
costs to sell and value in use, is compared to the 
assets carrying value. Any excess of the assets 
carrying value over its recoverable amount is 
expensed to the statement of profi t and loss 
and other comprehensive income.

e) Trade and other payables 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and 
services provided to the company prior to the end 
of the calendar year and which are unpaid. Due 
to their short-term nature they are measured at 
amortised cost and are not discounted. 

f) Employee benefi ts

Short-term employee benefi ts:
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefi ts, annual leave and long 
service leave expected to be settled wholly 
within 12 months of the reporting date are 
measured at the amounts expected to be paid 
when the liabilities are settled.

Other long-term employee benefi ts
The liability for annual leave and long service leave 
not expected to be settled within 12 months of the 
reporting date are measured at the present value of 
expected future payments to be made in respect of 
services provided by employees up to the reporting 
date. Consideration is given to expected future wage 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 December 2017
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and salary levels, experience of employee 
departures and periods of service. Expected 
future payments are discounted using market 
yields at the reporting date on national government 
bonds with terms to maturity and currency that 
match, as closely as possible, the estimated future 
cash outfl ows.

Defi ned contribution superannuation expense
Contributions to defi ned contribution 
superannuation plans are expensed in the period 
in which they are incurred.

g) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on 
hand, deposits held at call with banks and other 
short-term highly liquid investments with original 
maturities of three months or less that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and which 
are subject to an insignifi cant risk of changes 
in value.

h) Revenue and other income

Revenue from specifi c purpose grants is recognised 
as the services are provided and the funding 
agreement requirements satisfi ed. Revenue from 
rendering of services is recognised upon the 
delivery of the services to customers. Revenue from 
membership is identifi ed when the payments are 
received. Other revenue is recognised when it is 
received or when the right to receive payment is 
established. Interest revenue is recognised when 
the interest is received in the bank account or 
right to receive is established. 

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods 
and services tax (GST).

i) Goods and services tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net 
of the amount of GST, except where the amount 
of GST incurred is not recoverable from the 
Australian Taxation Offi  ce (ATO). Receivables and 
payables are stated inclusive of GST receivable 
or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable 
from, or payable to, the ATO is included with 
other receivables or payables in the statement 
of fi nancial position.

j) Financial assets

The company currently holds Term Deposits 
which are Held-to-Maturity (HTM) fi nancial 
assets. HTM fi nancial assets are initially recognised 

at fair value plus transaction costs and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the eff ective interest method.

HTM fi nancial assets are included in non-current 
assets, except for those which are expected to 
mature within 12 months after reporting date.

k) Comparative fi gures

When required by accounting standards, 
comparative fi gures have been adjusted to 
conform to changes in presentation in the current 
calendar year. 

l) Critical accounting judgements,  
 estimates and assumptions

The Directors evaluate estimates and judgements 
incorporated into the fi nancial statements based 
on historical knowledge and best available current 
information. Estimates assume a reasonable 
expectation of future events and are based on 
current trends and economic data, obtained both 
externally and within the company.

Impairment: The company assesses impairment 
at the end of each reporting period by evaluation 
of conditions and events specifi c to the company 
that may be indicative of impairment triggers. 
Recoverable amounts of relevant assets are 
reassessed using value-in-use calculations 
which incorporate various key assumptions. 
No impairment has been recognised in 
respect of assets.

Provision for impairment of receivables: Included 
in trade receivables at the end of the reporting 
period are amounts receivable from trade debtors. 
The Board believes that the full amount may not 
be able to recover and a doubtful debt provision 
has been made at 31 December 2017.

Employment benefi t provision: The liability for 
the employee benefi ts toward annual leave is 
expected to settle within 12 months.

m) New, revised or amended Accounting  
 Standards and Interpretations adopted

The company has adopted all of the new, revised 
or amending Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board that are mandatory for the 
current reporting period. Any new, revised or 
amending Accounting Standards or Interpretations 
that are not yet mandatory have not been early 
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adopted. Any signifi cant impact on the accounting 
policies of the company from the adoption of these 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations are 
disclosed below. The adoption of these Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations did not have any 
signifi cant impact on the fi nancial performance 
or position of the company.

The following Accounting Standards and Interpretations 
are most relevant to the company:

 • AASB 2016-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standard disclosure initiative: Amendments to 
AASB 107

 CY 2017  CY 2016 

$  $ 

Note 2: Grant income    

Nursing in Primary Health Care program 2,825,190 2,179,379

Supporting GPs and Practice Nurses in Timely Diagnosis 
of Dementia program

138,219 244,449

Chronic Disease Prevention and Service Improvement program – 15,482

National Bowel Cancer Screening program 75,319 13,500

3,038,728 2,452,810

Note 3: Professional services income    

Online course registration income 39,197 57,314

New course development and hosting income – 35,137

Education activity endorsement income 12,900 19,999

Workshop Income 226,773 112,459

278,870 224,909

     

Note 4: Administration expense  

Auditors remuneration – Audit Services 11,995 11,500

Auditors remuneration – Grant acquittal 2,500 2,500

Consultants 46,062 35,154

Insurance 12,761 12,344

Legal fees 25,152 1,452

Licenses, registrations and permits 14,828 23,250

Board travel, accommodation, training and other expense 115,933 110,767

Printing and stationery 24,443 19,589

Postage and couriers 12,630 7,639

Telephone and Teleconferencing expense 22,447 19,452

Rent and outgoings 93,509 80,358

Loss on disposal of asset 106 1,527

Volunteer representation expense 351 1,240
Other expenditure 27,081 6,667

IT expense 96,242 60,142

506,040 393,581

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 December 2017
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 CY 2017  CY 2016 

  $  $ 

Note 5: Cash and cash equivalents  

Cash at bank – APNA 154,042 522,018

Cash at bank – Grants 620,527 483,231

774,569 1,005,249
   

Note 6: Trade and other receivables  

Trade receivables 141,293 40,784

Accrued Income 5,474 46,222

GST receivable from ATO 54,410 38,801

201,178 125,807

 
   

Note 7: Prepayments  

Conference prepayments 32,314 36,224

Other prepayments 28,320 16,084

60,634 52,308

     

Note 8: Financial assets  

Term deposits 1,042,588 1,362,768

1,042,588 1,362,768

     

Note 9: Plant and equipment  

APNA plant and equipment – at cost 42,766 29,653 

Accumulated depreciation (29,888) (16,342) 

12,878 13,311 

 

APNA furniture and equipment – at cost 46,473 25,949 
Accumulated depreciation (35,521) (3,475) 

10,952 22,474 

 
Written Down Value of Assets 23,830 35,785 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 December 2017
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Movements in carrying amounts

Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning and 
the end of the current fi nancial year

 Plant & 
Equipment 

Furniture & 
Fittings Total

 $  $  $ 

Balance at the beginning of year  13,310  22,475  35,785 
Additions  9,129  1,659  10,788 
Disposals  106  –   106 
Depreciation expense  9,455  13,182  22,637 
Carrying amount at the end of year  12,878  10,952  23,830 

 CY 2017  CY 2016 

  $  $ 

Note 10: Intangible assets

APNA Intangible Asset – at cost 106,500 71,000 

Accumulated depreciation  (20,016) – 

86,484 71,000 

Movements in carrying amounts

Movement in the carrying amounts for Intangible asset between the beginning and the end of the current 
fi nancial year

 CRM Total
 $  $ 

Balance at the beginning of year 71,000 71,000 
Additions 35,500 35,500 
Disposals – – 
Depreciation expense 20,016 20,016 
Carrying amount at the end of year  86,484  86,484 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 December 2017

Note 11: Trade and other payables

Trade creditors  54,213  127,510 

Accrued expenses  202,737  137,027 

PAYG withholding tax  50,839  47,935 

Superannuation payable  19,056  19,317 

Income in advance  146,876  65,686 

 473,721  397,475 
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 CY 2017  CY 2016 

 $  $ 

Note 12: Grants in advance  

Nursing in Primary Health Care program 552,888 1,171,009 

Supporting GPs and Practice Nurses in Timely Diagnosis of Dementia program – 57,328 

National Bowel Cancer Screening program – 9,227 

552,888 1,237,564 

 
  

Note 13: Provisions  
Current  

Provisions for annual leave 111,890 92,069 

Provisions for long service leave 40,397 34,885 

Provision for doubtful debts 6,096 –

Total 158,383 126,954 

Non-current  

Provisions for long service leave 17,673 13,612 

Total 17,673 13,612 

 

Total provision 176,056 140,566 

    

Note 14: Reserves  
Balance at the beginning of the year 823,837 519,435 

Surplus for the year 73,806 304,402 

Balance at the end of the year 897,643 823,837 

Note 15: Cash fl ow information

(a) Reconciliation of cash

Cash at the end of the fi nancial year as shown in  

the cash fl ow statement is as follows:  

Cash per balance sheet 774,569 1,005,249

 

 (b) Reconciliation of net cash fl ows from operating activities to net surplus:  

Operating surplus/(defi cit) 73,806 304,402

Depreciation 42,653 6,238

Loss on sale of fi xed assets 106 1,527

(Increase)/decrease in receivables (75,370) (94,101)

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments (8,328) 20,185

Increase/(decrease) in payables 76,246 2,048

Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities (684,675) (14,784)

Increase/(decrease) in provisions 35,490 38,633

 

Net cash fl ows from operating activities (540,072) 264,148

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 December 2017
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Note 16: Key management personnel & board compensation

The total of remuneration paid to key management personnel of the company during the year are as follows:

CY 2017 CY 2016

$ $

Key management personnel & board compensation 485,294 496,858

Key management personnel & board includes all senior managers of APNA and APNA board members

Note 17: Contingent liabilities
At the date of signing these accounts, the directors are not aware of any contingent liabilities
 
Note 18: Events after balance sheet
There are no signifi cant events which have occurred subsequent to 31 December 2017

CY 2017 CY 2016
$ $

Note 19: Operating lease commitments 
Not later than 12 months 24,941  36,147
Between 12 months and 5 years  –  –

24,941  36,147

Note 20: Related party transactions
Payment for Mentor services under the Transition to Practice Program tranche 1 
by Grant Badenoch spouse of Julianne Badenoch

1,200 1,800 

Payment for developing education for the Transition to Practice Program 
tranche 2 by Jane Bollen as an employee of BMP Consulting Pty Ltd 

5,000 

Payment for facilitator or presenter services at Foundation workshops by 
Jane Bollen as an employee of BMP Consulting Pty Ltd

1,000 1,000 

Payment for engagement in the role of GP nurse in Health Care Homes Model 
discussion by Jane Bollen as an employee of BMP Consulting Pty Ltd 

300 

Payment for facilitator or presenter services at Foundation workshops 
by Melissa Cromarty

8,400 4,600 

Payment for review of Foundation module by Melissa Cromarty   2,100 

Payment for assessment of endorsement application by Melissa Cromarty   300 

Payment for facilitator or presenter services at Foundation workshops by 
Ros Rolleston

6,650 

Payment for South Coast Primary Care unit trust t/a Worrigee Medical Centre 
contracted under the Enhanced Nurse Clinics project Where Ros Rolleston 
is an employee

7,000 10,000 

Payment for facilitator or presenter services at Foundation workshops 
by Denise Lyons

150 

Payment for evaluation and feedback on APNA online learning modules by 
Kathryn Godwin

  200 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 December 2017
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Note 21: Segment Reporting
The company operates predominantly in one business and geographical segment, being the nursing 
sector supporting a healthy Australia through best practice primary health care nursing.

Note 22: Company details
The registered offi  ce of the company is:
Australian Primary Health Care Nurses Association Ltd
Suite 2 Level 2 159 Dorcas Street, South Melbourne, VIC 3205

The principal place of business of the company is:
Australian Primary Health Care Nurses Association Ltd
Suite 2 Level 2 159 Dorcas Street, South Melbourne, VIC 3205

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
For the year ended 31 December 2017

 
 

Crowe Horwath Melbourne is a member of Crowe Horwath International, a Swiss verein. Each member of Crowe Horwath is a separate and 
independent legal entity.  Liability l imited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. Liability l imited other than for the 
acts or omissions of financial services licensees. 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report to the 
Members of Australian Primary Health Care 
Nurses Association Ltd. 
 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Australian Primary Health Care Nurses Association Ltd. (the 
company), which comprises the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017, the statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of 
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the certification by members of the 
committee on the annual statements giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the association.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report gives a true and fair view of the financial position of 
Australian Primary Health Care Nurses Association Ltd. (the company) as at 31 December 2017 and of its 
financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Division 60 of the 
Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, including:  

a) giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 31 December 2017 
and of its financial performance for the year then ended; and  

b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards to the extent detailed in Note 1 and 
Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013.  

Basis for Opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 
section of our report. We are independent of the company in accordance with the auditor independence 
requirements of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 (ACNC Act) and the 
ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in 
Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.  

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report  

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true 
and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements 
and the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 (ANCN Act) and for such internal 
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of a financial report that gives a 
true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_files/ar3.pdf. This description 
forms part of our auditor’s report.  

 

 

CROWE HORWATH MELBOURNE 

 

 

David Munday 
Partner 

 

Melbourne, Victoria 
Dated this 9 April 2018 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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